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INTRODUCTION.

Like many works of a similar character, the following
History of the Parish of Banchory-Devenick is more or
less a compilation drawn from material published and un-
published. While of a fragmentary nature, and in many
respects incomplete, the subject-matter has been carefully
verified as far as possible, although, for the sake of
brevity, cumbrous lists of authorities have not been
stated.

The illustrations throughout the work have been
introduced with a view of interesting the reader, and at the
same time pictorially preserving several objects which
are likely, in the course of time, to be lost sight of.

The Author tenders his most grateful thanks to the
many kind friends who have aided him in the collection
of matter. He acknowledges his special indebtedness
to Mr. A. M. Munro, Town House, Aberdeen, and Mr.
J. Marcoum Burroch, M.A., Aberdeen (the latter is
responsible for the chapter on the Bridge of Dee), both

of whom have rendered signal service.

AVONDALE,
CuLrts, January, 1890.
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HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK.

BOUNDARIES OF PARISH.

THE Parish of Banchory-Devenick is divided into two
parts by the river Dee, one part lying in Aberdeen-
shire, and the other in Kincardineshire. The portion
lying to the north of the river is the smaller, containing
about 2374 acres. It is bounded on the north by the
parish of Newhills, and partly by Old Machar; on the
cast by Old Machar and the Burgh of Aberdeen ; on the
south by the river Dee; and on the west by the parish
of Peterculter. It forms a strip about one mile in
breadth, and four in length, and stretches both farther
cast and farther west than the part of the parish upon
the opposite, or Kincardineshire, side. This portion of
the parish contains the properties of Pitfodels, Cults, part
of Murtle, and part of Countesswells.

The south or Kincardineshire portion is almost three
times the size of the other, containing nearly 7000 acres.
It is bounded on the north and on the south-east by

B



2 HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK.

water,—on the north by the river Dee, and on the
south-east by the German ocean, where it has a coast
line of about three miles. On the north-east it is
bounded by the parish of Nigg, on the south by
Fetteresso parish, and on the west by Fetteresso and
Maryculter. The estates of this part are Banchory,
Ardoe, with Findon and Portlethen on the coast, and
Auchorthies in the south-west corner.

The word Banchory, according to the View of /e
Diocese of Aberdeen, signifies the white choir, or beautiful
church. Some believe it was derived from the Gaelic,
and means the hollow between two hills. Devenick was
the name of the tutelar saint of the parish, sent north
by Columba to Christianise the country.

As the larger portion of the parish, the Kincardine-
shire part is historically of the most importance, and as
the estate named after the parish, the lands of Banchory
occupy the first place.
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BANCHORY LANDS.

Banchory proper embraced two different properties—
Banchory-Devenick, and the Kirktown of Banchory—
each of which has a separate history up to 1618, when
the proprietor of the former purchased the latter,
and merged both lands into one. At first they were
both church lands granted by different kings, but as the
lands of Banchory-Devenick left the hands of the church
earlier than the other, they have a more varied history.

Kirktown of Banchory was granted to the See of
Old Machar in 1163, by Malcolm IV., and Banchory-
Devenick, subject to a yearly annuity of one hundred
shillings, together with certain forensical service, to the
Abbot and Convent of Arbroath by Alexander II., in
1244. Twelve years later the Abbot parted with the
property, disponing it to Lord Alan Hostiarius, justiciary
of Scotland. The justiciary was a powerful noble. His
real name was Lundie or Lundin, but his predecessors
having been appointed door ward, or hostiarius, to the
king, an appointment which became hereditary, they
afterwards assumed the name of Durward. Lord Alan,
who was the son of Thomas Durward, had married the
natural daughter of Alexander II., by whom he was
created Earl of Athole, and in 1242, made great justiciary
of Scotland. His influence at court was of the most
powerful character, but he fell into disgrace in 1251
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through intriguing against the Crown. Being afterwards
restored to favour, however, he became Regent of
Scotland during part of the minority of Alexander III.
In 1257 he renewed the claim, which had been made
before 1228 by his father, to the Earldom of Mar, which
even at that time was a matter of dispute. Though de-
feated in his claim to the title, he succeeded to the
extensive domains in Mar, extending from Invercanny
on the Dec to Alford on the Don, and from Banchory-
Devenick and Skene on the east to Coull on the west,
which had been acquired by his father under the com-
promise arrived at of the dispute in his case. As
‘“ the most accomplished knight, and the best military
leader of his time,” he got the lands of Banchory-Devenick
in return for his homage and service, and paying three
merks of silver, together with the annual annuity of 100
shillings, as stipulated for by the King in the original
charter. Under the new titles, which converted the lands
of Banchory into “a free barony,” Lord Alan and his heirs
were prohibited from alienating or feuing any portion of
the ground to third parties, under penalty of forfeiture and
escheat. This prohibition was shortly afterwards contra-
vened, and the whole of the lands thereupon reverted
to the Abbacy.

The next stage in the history of Banchory-Devenick
is its passing into the hands of the Meldrum family.
William of Melgdrum, who had got possession of a con-
siderable portion from Lord Alan, ultimately succeeded in
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getting a charter of the lands in 1333 (see Appendix).
Prior to this, however, Robert the Bruce granted his
annuity of £, exigible annually from the lands, to Eliza-
beth Durward, one of the daughters of Lord Alan. In
1346, William Melgdrum got another charter of con-
firmation and infeftment ('see Appendix) under which he
and his heirs were prohibited from selling any of the
land. The family of Melgdrum is of great antiquity.
Philip de Fedarg, a distinguished gentleman in the
reign of Alexander II., was ennobled, and subsequently
held considerable sway in the north. He disputed
boundaries with the Abbot of Arbroath, and their dif-
ferences were finally adjusted in 1236—the Abbot after-
wards granting him for his homage and service the
territory of Auchineve. It is uncertain whether this
Philip or his son relinquished the designation of Fedarg,
and assumed that of Melgdrum; but this happened in
the reign of Alexander I11., about the year 1249.

Sir Philip de Melgdrum, son of Philip de Fedarg,
who was the first Meldrum of Meldrum, married Agnes
Cumyn, sister of Alexander, Earl of Buchan. He had
powerful influence in State affairs, and in 1252 was one
of the Justiciars of Scotland. The dispute with the
Abbot of Arbroath appears to have been interminable,
for Sir Philip and his Lady contested the right of presen-
tation to the Church of Bethelny, the tithes of which
had been given to the Abbey by William Cumyn, first
Earl of Buchan, the brother or uncle of Philip’s wife,
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and had been confirmed by Alexander II. in 1221-2.
The Bishop of Aberdeen had to try the case, and he held
a court at Inverurie, on 21st January, 1262, to which all
interested were summoned. Judgment was pronounced
in the following month, and the decreet was witnessed by
Richard, the vicar, by William Lamberton, rector of Turriff,
Roger Stainforth, vicar of Banchory-Terny, Thomas de
Bennin, rector of the schools of Aberdeen, and Roger
Scharcheburg, official. Sir Philip died in the reign of
Alexander IIl., and was succeeded by his eldest son,
Sir William de Meldrum, who espoused the cause of
Baliol in his competition with Bruce for the Crown of
Scotland. Sir William was succeeded by his eldest son,
John, of whose history little is preserved. He left two
sons, of whom the eldest, Sir Philip, became his heir.
His second son, William, who acquired the lands of
Banchory, as before mentioned, and was ancestor of the
Meldrums of Fyvie, acted as one of the ambassadors
nominated to negotiate the liberty of David I1., who had
been taken prisoner by the English at the battle of
Neville’s Cross in 1346. In October, 1353, the King
confirmed to him, and to his heirs, the lands and barony
of Meldrum.

Nine years later the King, who frequently visited
Aberdeen, granted a charter, in January, 1362, in favour of
the Dominican or Black Friars, whose church was situated
in the vicinity of the East Church, of an annual annuity
of 100 shillings from the Barony of Banchory-Devenick,
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for the endowment of a chaplain to serve in their Church
at the altar of the Blessed Virgin, or of Saint Michael ;
and the donation bears to be made for the welfare of the
soul of the King, of his beloved Margaret de Logy, and
the souls of his ancestors and successors. James III., by
charter dated 3oth September, 1477, confirmed this
annuity.

The Meldrums of Fyvie continued as proprietors of
Banchory down till almost the close of the sixteenth
century. In 1544 the proprietor was Sir George
Meldrum, whom Bishop Lesley calls ¢ ane valyeant and
wyse gentleman.” In that year he was sent on an em-
bassy to Henry VIII., who was then besieging Boulogne,
in France.* His instructions were “to commoune upon
certane abstuonce, to the effect that Commissioners should
meit, quhilk was aggreit qntill his returning in Ingland
in the moneth of August thairafter.” In 1554 he secured
a tack of the fishings, described in the deed as “foure
cobillis,” upon the water of Dee, * payand thairfoir yeirlie
fiveteen barrellis salmond gude and sufficient.” In these
times the fishings had been very productive, for, according
to the Scots Magazine, goo salmon were caught in one
day in April, 1749, at the Raick fishings alone; whilst
the other fishings on the Dee and Don had even greater
catches in proportion.  Difficulty of transit, however,
kept down the price, and what would now secure a yearly

* Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland, p. 187.
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rental of 460 or £80 could have then been had for as
many shillings. So accustomed were the lower orders of
Aberdeen and district to salmon dinners, that it was no
unusual circumstance for farm servants, on being engaged
for the half-year, to stipulate that they would not get
salmon beyond three times a week. The present rents
of the parish salmon fishings are :—Sea: Clashfarquhar,
450; Portlethen, £180; Findon, £270; Cairnrobin,
£go. River: Murtle, £19; Ardoe, £70; Inchgarth,
440; Banchory, £38; Kaimhill, £115.

The estate then passed into the hands of the Garden
family, during whose proprietorship the two portions of
Banchory merged into one. Under charter, dated in 15535,
granted by Sir George Meldrum of Fyvie, with consent
of William Meldrum of Hatton, his son, George Garden,
then designed as proprietor of Dorlaithers, acquired the
estate. At the same time, Garden obtained a charter of
the lands of Hatton and Auchterless in warrandice of the
lands of Banchory. The Gardens were a very ancient
and highly respected family, and this George, who was
frequently called of that Ilk,* married Isobell Keyth,
daughter to the laird of Troup, “wha wes lawfull sone to
the Erll Mershall”t He was a burgess of Aberdeen,
but on 18th September, 1562, he, along with twelve
others, “tint the freedom” through remaining “not

*The Arms of Garden of that Ilk were argent fwo chevrons
ingrailed gules.—Nisbet’s Heraldry.

t Birth Brieves, Miscellany, Spalding Club, Vol. v., p. 326.
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actually within the Burgh.” In 1589 he was one of the
gentlemen sent by James I. to Denmark in connection
with the marriage treaty of the Princess Anne. He left
a son and a daughter.

Arthur, the son, succeeded his father in 1590, in which
year a Patrick Bissett, * his Maiesties rebell,” took
shelter in Banchory House, which was surrounded by a
mob from Aberdeen, who claimed him as their prisoner.
Considerable mischief had evidently been done, for the
Town Council afterwards ordered fifty merks to be
paid out of the town’s funds as compensation. Beatrix,
the daughter, had an eventful history. She was one of
Queen Mary’s maids of honour, and was celebrated for
her beauty and her skill as a harpist. Miss Strickland re-
lates a well-known story of her. Once, when the Queen
“proclaimed a music meeting, offering her own favourite
harp as a prize to the best performer, the fair Beatrice
Gardyne of Banchory was adjudged by her majesty to
have surpassed all the courtly competitors, and even her
own musicians, in skill and taste, as well as in the sweet-
ness of her voice. Neither Michelet, Mary's newly
imported French musician, nor even her old established
favourite, David Rizzio, was excepted. The Poet-Queen
acknowledged the superiority of the native melodies of
Scotland to the most elaborate harmonies which foreign
science could produce ; and when she felt the soul-thrilling
power of a Scottish ballad from the lips of a sweet-voiced
Scottish lassie, the generous Sovereign hailed her young

C
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subject as the ‘ Queen of Song,’ and accorded the harp
to her with this compliment, ‘ You alone are worthy to
possess the instrument you touch so well!’”  Queen
Mary’s harp is now deposited in the museum, in Edin-
burgh, of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland. It
was originally graced with a portrait of the royal donor,
and the arms of Scotland in solid gold, enriched with
several gems—two of which were considered of great
value—but these were stolen during the Civil Wars. By
her marriage Beatrix again figures prominently. She
became the second wife of the redoubtable Findla Mhor,
and thus ancestor of the Farquharsons of Invercauld and
Finzean, and they had issue five sons and five daughters.
Of the sons, Donald, the eldest, got Castleton of Braemar ;
Robert, the second, Invercauld; Lachlan, the third,
through marriage with Grizel Campbell, the lands of
Broughdearg ; George, the fourth, through marriage, the
lands of Deskry and Glenconry ; and Finlay, the youngest,
Achreachan, in Glenlivat. In 1547, Findla was royal
standard-bearer at Pinkie. ‘‘Surrounded by the men of
Strathdee,” says an interesting writer, ‘“‘he cleared the
way with his huge claymore, before which man and horse
went down. The English cavalry, under Lord Gray,
were in a moment overthrown, and the General himself
wounded. But then the main body of the invaders ad-
vanced, pouring in volleys of musketry, and Findla Mhor
fell on the field, shrouded in the royal banner he had
borne with such honour. He lies interred at Mussel-



HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK. 11

burgh—Burke says at Invercauld—happy no doubt in
that he did not live to see the triumph of England.” It
is not clear when Arthur Garden died. He had married
Elizabeth, or Elspet Gordon, daughter of the laird of
Gight, and left a son, Alexander. It was with this laird
that the lands of Banchory-Devenick and Kirktown of
Banchory merged into one.

Kept in the hands of the church for four centuries,
Kirktown of Banchory at last, in 1571, reached a distinctive
point in its history. In that year the Bishop of Aberdeen,
with consent of the Dean and Chapter, granted a feu
charter of the lands, which was confirmed by the King,
in favour of William Blinshell, one of a family that had
taken a leading part in the history of Aberdeen for two
centuries. As they had long been under one proprietor-
ship, they now, for the next few years, rapidly changed
hands. Blinshell, in the same month that he got his feu
charter of them, granted a charter of alienation in favour
of Robert Menzies, elder, burgess of Aberdeen. He
was succeeded in 1586 by his son, David, who married
Marjory Gray, by whom he had an only danghter,
Marjory. She became the wife of the Rev. Andrew
Milne, minister of Maryculter, and inherited her father’s
property. The Milnes, however, parted with it in 1618,
when they sold it to Alexander Garden for 3000 merks,
but subject to a wadsett of 2000 merks upon the Mains of
Banchory, held by Gilbert Club, burgess of Aberdeen.

Henceforward the history of the two properties becomes
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one. Garden was married to Janet Straquhan, by whom
he had two sons, both of whom went abroad. One
of these, Alexander, who had entered the army, in
which he held the rank of Major, proceeded with the
troops sent by Charles I. to assist Gustavus Adolphus,
and was present at the battle of Lutzen, in 1632,
when the gallant king lost his life. ~Major Garden
remained many years at the Swedish Court, where he
attained to great distinction. On the abdication, however,
of Queen Christina, in 1654, he returned to Scotland, and
purchased the estate of Troup, from Troup of that Ilk.
He married Betty, daughter of Alexander Strachan,
of Glenkindy, and had issue—Alexander Garden, of
Troup, who married Bathia, daughter of Sir Alexander
Forbes, of Craigievar, and whose grandson, Peter
Garden of Delgaty, heir to his brother Francis, Lord
Gardenstone of the Court of Session, married the
heiress of Campbell of Glenlyon, and thereafter assumed
the additional name and arms of that family.

It is strange that the laird who united the two parts
of Banchory into one should have also had to let both go
out of his family. His financial affairs became embarrassed,
and five years after his purchase of Kirktown of Banchory,
the property passed into the Forbes Famlly, who held it
for the next half century.

It was in 1623 that Garden ‘““disponed to William
Forbes of Monymusk, and Elizabeth Wishart of
Pitarrow, his spouse, the haill lands of Banchory with
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the pertinents.” Forbes was created a knight baronet,
of Scotland and Nova Scotia, by Charles I., in 1626,
and in 1629 he was formally infefted in the lands of
Banchory, and also part of Torry. He had issue, three
sons and three daughters. The eldest son, William, suc-
ceeded ; the second son, Robert, became proprietor of
Barns; and the third, Alexander, was subsequently de-
signed of Aberswithark. The eldest daughter, Jean,
married Alexander Lunan, minister of Monymusk, and
afterwards of Kintore. Isobell married John Forbes of
Asloun ; and the third, Anna, died young.

In 1630 Sir William granted a deed of wadsett over
Banchory for 13,840 merks, paid to him by his brother,
John Forbes of Leslie, and William and Alexander, his
sons. The deed contained a special clause, which
provided that in the event of the latter family paying the
further sum of 6000 merks within seven years from the
date thereof, they should get infeftment of Banchory,
the same as if they had purchased it outright. Litigation
subsequently followed as to the legal rights of parties,
but, ultimately, John Forbes of Leslie secured the
proprietorship of Banchory, and had his title ratified by
Parliament. He was the second son of William Forbes
of Monymusk, and Lady Margaret Douglas, daughter of
Sir William Douglas of Kemnay, who in 1588 became
ninth Earl of Angus. He obtained the lands of Leslie
about 1620, from George, the last Leslie of that Ilk,
through paying the debts lying upon them. He married
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Jean Leslie, sister of Patrick, second Lord Lindores,
from whom it is believed he got for a trifling amount a
large portion of the estates of that lordship, He bought
Edingarroch and Licklyhead from Patrick Leith in 1625.
Along with John Leslie, younger of Pitcaple, he made a
representation to the Covenanting Lords against the
blockade of the Harbour of Aberdeen, 31st May, 1639.
In 1645 he was engaged in the burning of Pitcaple
Castle, where Jaffray and Cant were prisoners. Spalding,
who calls him ‘“ane gryte covenanter,” records that in
April of the previous year his “ girnillis in Banchorie wes"
plunderit ¢ for the upkeep of the Marquis of Huntly’s
army, quartered in Aberdeen.

He was succeeded in his large estates by his son,
William. This laird had, in 1644, rendered himself no-
torious through murdering his neighbour, Alexander
Irvine, of Kingcausie. Spalding relates the story with his
usual minuteness :—‘ Vpone Setterday, 17 August, 1644,
about 11 houris at evin, Alexander Irving, of Kincousie,
cuming quyetlie to Abirdein (becaus he durst not ryd
vpone day licht for being at the rode of Montroiss).
Williame Forbes, sone naturall to Johne Forbes of
Leslie, hapnit to be cuming out of Abirdene going to
Banchorie, quhair his father wes duelling, and met with
him about the Crabstane, who wold haue takin him and
had him perforss to Abirdene, luiking to get for him 5000
merkis conforme to ane ordinans of the Estaitis, that who-
suld tak him and bring him in sould get the same soume.
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Kincovsie being ane fyne gentilman stormit to be tane
with the lyk of him, and wnder speiking this Williame
Forbes schootis the gentilman with ane pistoll deid, and
thairwith cruellie strikis him two straikis in the heid.
Thus is this brave gentilman mischantlie mvrdreist, wnder
scilens of nicht, (never wining to his armes to defend
him self), for greid of this gane set out be the Estaitis,
without ground of godliness. Many wes sorrowfull at his
death, being mervalouslie weill belovit both in brughe and
land. He left behind him his dolorous wyf and fyve father-
les children. Vpone the morne he is takin up and bureit
within the Laird Drumis Iyll in Sanct Nicholas’ kirk of
New Abirdene with gryt mvrning and lamentatioun.
This innocent blood is noways pvnishit according to the
law of God and man, bot is esteimit and publictlie ap-
provin as good and loyall seruice, in manifest contempt of
oure dreidfull God and the kingis lawis. For vpone the
21st of the said moneth of August, four dayis immediatlie
efter this bloodie mvrther, the said Williame Forbes is
avowitlie brocht in befoir the committe of Abirdein, and
found to be ane volunteir in Schir Williame Forbes of
Craigiewaris company of trovperis, and declairit him to
haue done good seruice to the publict for mvrthering of
this gentilman, for no vther ressone bot becauss he wes at
Montrose with his young cheif the Laird Drum, drawin
thair also aganist his will, as sum said ; for this fault the
taking of his lyf is approvin good seruice, and absoluit
thairfra. Likeas the said committe sent ane trumpettour
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to the cross of Abirdene, and be oppin proclamatioun ab-
soluit him fra this mvrther frielie, and ordanit 5000 merkis
to be liftit af of his estait, being about 12 chalderis victuall,
quhairof 2000 merkis sould be givin to the malefactour,
and 3000 merkis to Craigiwar, ritmaister, conforme to ane
ordinans set out be the generall committe of Estaitis.
Likeas thairefter he wes of new agane declairit to haue
done good seruice, and to get his rewaird, strictlie charging
and commanding that no maner of man sould speik or
say aganis the samen bot lavdablie. Bot the Lord luikit
to their presumptuous sinis and bloodsched, for in August,
16435, the said Williame Forbes, being keiping his fatheris
hous of Likliheid, schuiting ane mvscat, schot his richt
hand fra him self; a token that the Lord thocht not this
innocent blood good seruice. And that same hand who
schot this gentilman wes schot fra him be him self; but it
wes his left hand quhilk fyrit, and wes cuttit at the elbo.”
Gordon, in his history of the family of Gordon, says that
after the Restoration the eldest son of the murdered laird
of Kingcausie, ‘“ having obtained an order from the Coun-
cil to apprehend Forbes, went to Caithness, where the
assassin then lurked (as he thought in safety), took him
prisoner, and carried him to Edinburgh, where by the
Council he was remitted to a Justiciary Court to be holden
at Aberdeen for that effect, and was by that Court con-
demned to be hanged at the Crabstane, a place as near
as could be guessed to that where the murder was com-
mitted ; and which sentence was accordingly executed.”
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This, however, was not the case. The loss of his hand had
evidently satisfied his enemy for the loss of his head, for
he succeeded his father, and married Janet, sister of Lord
Duffus, and by her had several children, among whom
were John, his successor, and Jean, who became Lady
Hatton Meldrum. According to his tombstone in the
churchyard of Leslie, he “lyved fifty-fyve yeirs, and
depairted this lyfe, November 12, 1670 yeirs.” Heis
believed to have been the continuator of Matthew Lums-
den’s Genealogy of the family of Forbes, from Lumsden’s
death in 1580, to 1665. Leslie Castle, now a picturesque
ruin, which might have been preserved at little cost in a
habitable condition, was rebuilt by him, as appears by an
inscription on the wall, dated 17th June, 1661.

John Forbes, his son and successor, married in 1662
Helen Scot, daughter of the laird of Ardross, in Fife, by
whom he had several daughters. One of these, Christian,
was married, first, to John Skene of Dyce, and, secondly,
in 1734, to John Paton of Grandholm.

With this laird the estate of Banchory left the
Forbes family. In 1682 he disposed of the whole
estate to Robert Cruickshank, merchant in Aberdeen, and
Sarah Leslie, his spouse. Cruickshank was the son of
John Cruickshank, burgess of Aberdeen, and he was
elected Provost for four successive years, beginning in
1693, besides being Member of Parliament for the city
from 1694 to 1702. In 1694 he returned the following
information for the poll taken in that year :—* Hath one

D
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wyfe, and five children in familie, two servant lasses and
one man servant.” Of the family, three sons appear in
the burgess register of Aberdeen as having been made
Guild Brethren, viz. : George, Robert, and James. The
first named passed as an advocate in Aberdeen, and
married Elizabeth Geddie. The second became a mer-
chant in London. The third qualified as a doctor, and
was afterwards designed as *“ Chirurgeon in Kent, County
in Maryland.” One of the daughters, Helen, married
the Reverend John Whyte, minister of Coylton, in Ayr-
shire; the other, Elspet, became the wife of John
Johnston, merchant in, and one of the baillies of,
Aberdeen. At Michaelmas, 1697, Johnston had exception
taken to his election as provost by several members of the
Council. These dissentients raised an action of reduction
before the Lords of the Privy Council, and, among other
grave charges, declared that Johnston, and his father-in-
law, ‘“disregardful of the laws of God and the sett of the
Burgh, have arranged for the future to get themselves
alternately returned as Provost. The laird of Banchory
has already had himself re-elected four several running
years.” The objections were sustained, and, accordingly,
in December following, “the haill Council” elected as
provost, Alexander Walker, who was the grandféther of
Principal Campbell.

This dispute led to a very curious episode in connec-
tion with the Bridge of Ruthrieston. The council register
of date, 23rd Feby., 1698, contains the following entry
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which shows that the spirit of Town Councils has been
pretty much the same for a considerable length of time.
“The Councill, finding that, when the Bridge of
Ruthreston was perfyted, Robert Cruickshank, of
Banchorie, being then [1693-4] provost, he did
clandistinly cause put up his armes on the sd. bridge
without any act of councill, albeit he contrabute nothing
for building thereof, and yet the same was begune and
near ended in provost Cochran’s time, And was builded
on the money of the Bridge of Dee, Doe therefore
appoint the sd. Robert Cruickshank’s armes to be
taken down, and to be given to him, he paying the
pryce thereof, And appoints the Mr. of Kirk Work
to cause put up in the place where the sd. arms,
stood ane handsome cut stone with the following in-
scription thereon, viz. :—‘ Senatus-Abredonensis hunc
pontem, impensis ex Zre ad pontem Dee spectante
extruendum Curavit, 1693.” Notwithstanding this or-
der, Cruickshank’s arms are still to be seen on the
bridge. The reason is this—the grandiloquent inscrip-
tion of the Council is on the reverse of the stone
on which Cruickshank’s arms are cut. Under date,
13th Sept., 1705, the Council ‘“ appointed the Mr. of
Kirk work to cause turn the stone whereon the Inscrip-
tion is that Robert Cruickshank, of Banchorie, his Arms
qch are on the back thereof may be seen, and to add
Provost of Abd. to his designation when this Bridge was
built, and to put on vpon another stone of the sd.
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Bridge the former latin inscription, that the sd. wes built
at the expense of the Bridge of Dee.”

Johnston, his son-in-law, died within the next year or
two, being survived by his wife who had no issue, and
Cruickshank died about 1st May, 1717, and was buried
in Saint Nicholas Churchyard, Aberdeen. Two years
previously he bequeathed 1000 merks to form a fund for
“relieving decayed Burgesses, their wives and children.”
His grandson, Robert Cruickshank, son of the before
designed George Cruickshank, succeeded, and with him
the estate again changed hands.

In 1724, Cruickshank, who was then resident with his
widowed mother in Saint Andrews, sold the estate to
James Gordon, merchant in Aberdeen, who was then
proprietor of Ardmellie, in the parish of Marnoch,
Banffshire. Gordon was a keen Episcopalian, and took
an active interest in the raising of funds for the erection
of a ‘‘meeting house in Aberdeen, for that body.” In
1736 he secured an obligation from the Governors of
Robert Gordon’s Hospital, Aberdeen, agreeing to grant
30 “spidarrock ” of peats—a spidarrock being what would
be dug in one day by a spade—to be cast annually out
of the moss of Findon and Cookston by the tenants of
Banchory, for sale in Aberdeen for the space of 29 years
after Candlemas 1737, each ‘‘spidarrock” to pay 48
shillings Scots yearly. He married Mary Buchan, and
his eldest daughter, Anne, married in 1757 John Gordon
of Craig, by whom she had three sons—John, who died
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in infancy; James, the successor; and Francis. An-
other daughter, Mary, married in 1768 Sir Alexander
Bannerman of Elsick.

The next change of proprietor brought the estate into
the hands of the Thomsons, with whose name it is best
known: Gordon sold the property, in 1743, to Alexander
Thomson, advocate in Aberdeen, who also acquired, in
1765, part of the fourth lot of the lands of Portlethen,
called Balquharn. He married Katherine Skene, daugh-
ter of George Skene of Rubislaw, who survived him, and
died 4th March, 1776, aged 73. One stirring incident in
his life was undoubtedly due to his connection with the
Skene family. He lived in the fine old mansion in the
Guestrow, now known as the Victoria Lodging House.
It had belonged to his wife’s family, and he had either
bought or leased it. At all events, when the Duke of
Cumberland came to Aberdeen in February, 1746, in
pursuit of the Jacobite rebels, he pronounced Marischal
College, which had been prepared for him, as too small,
and took up his abode in Thomson’s mansion, which was
roomy enough for him. For six weeks he occupied his
unwilling host’s house, and during that time ‘“made use
of every kind of provisions found in the house, coals,
candles, ales, or other liquors in the cellars, and the milk
of his [host’s] cow : bed and table linen, which were very
much spoiled and abused ; he broke up a press in which
Mrs. Thomson had lodged a considerable quantity of
sugar, and whereof he took every grain weight. When
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about to march from Aberdeen, he left six guineas to the
three servants of the house, but did not make the least
compliment or requital to Mr. Thomson for the so long
and free use of his house, furniture, and provisions, nor
so much as call for his landlord or landlady to reward
them thanks.”

In 1768 Thomson mortified to the minister and
Kirk-session of Banchory-Devenick, for behoof of the
poor of the parish, the sum of 45, payable yearly after
his demise, from the lands of Kirktown of Banchory.
The Session’s right to the annuity was constituted by
gift and delivery to their Treasurer of earth and stone of
the ground of the foresaid lands of Kirktown of Banchory,
an hand full of corn, stubble, straw, and grass, together
with a penny and other symbols used in the like cases.”
The deed of mortification, which was registered in the
Baillie Court books of Aberdeen, declares ¢ that the
foresaid annuity shall never be redeemed upon any
consideration, but shall remain as a perpetual burden in
all time coming on the said lands of Banchory.” He
also mortified 420 to be paid annually out of the lands of
Balquharn to the master of mortification of Aberdeen, for
payment of annuities to certain relatives, at whose
decease the fund was directed to be applied in all time
coming “towards the support and maintenance of old
infirm Burgesses of Guild of Aberdeen ; and their wives;
or to their widows; or to their sons or grandsons;
daughters or grand-daughters of Burgesses of Guild—
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the persons receiving the benefit being old, infirm, and
not able to gain a livelihood, and being of pious
disposition.”

At the same date he executed a deed of entail
(see Appendixz) of the whole of his extensive estates.
He left a most curious array of reasons for doing so, for
the special guidance of his trustees and factor. *It may
be proper to let my friends know some of my reasons for
executing the Deed of Entail of my lands of Banchory,
Rainieshill, &c. I many times considered the circum-
stances of my ancient friends and relations now dead,
that those who made any figure in the world, and acquired
a competency of means, their eldest sons and successors
squandered away their Estates, and spent the same in a
foolish profuse idle way. FZ»s¢—To give some instances,
A died, leaving his estate to his eldest son, B —,
who sold it. He lived and died in great want, being a
sluggard.  Second—C
died leaving a plentiful estate to his only son, D ;

, who was an eminent lawyer,

who became an Edinburgh lawyer. He afterwards
squandered away his substance, neglected his business,
though he was one of the best writers of his time, and at
last died in low circumstances, and his sons after him
turned debauchees. Z7%ird—E
great knowledge and activity, acquired a considerable

, who was a man of

estate in money, which he divided amongst his five sons,
who went abroad, made no figure, but spent their patri-

monies without doing any good. Fowurth—F :
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acquired the estate of. . . with several feus, houses, and
fishings. He left all his children competently provided for.
His eldest son, G
estate, with the burden of his mother’s liferent and the
younger children’s provision. He would have had a very

, succeeded to all his means and

good reversion if he had managed well and applied
to business. Other instances could be given, but I shall
not mention them on account of their surviving friends.
Fifth—None of these friends executed any Deed of
Entail of their estates. When I considered how those
before me were represented, I thought a Deed of Entail
might be tried to see if that would preserve my small
estate from being squandered away g 7
Mr. Thomson died in 1773, at the advanced age of 81
years.

He was succeeded, under the deed of entail, by his
nephew, Andrew, the eldest son of his brother, Andrew, an
advocate in Aberdeen, and proprietor of Cammachmore,
in the Mearns. Andrew Thomson, senior, who died in
1766, was married to Margaret Muir, by whom he had
issue, Andrew, James, Margaret, Anne, and Helen.
Andrew, the eldest son, who was born on 28th October,
1747, married in 1769 Mary Skene, daughter of Dr.
Andrew Skene, a lineal descendant of the great Scottish
reformer, John Knox. ¢ Knox left three daughters, one
of whom was married to a Mr. Baillie of Jerviswood, and
by him had a daughter, who was married to a Mr. Kirkton,
of Edinburgh.” By this marriage there was a daughter,
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Margaret, who married Dr. Andrew Skene, of Aberdeen,
the grandfather of Thomson'’s wife. He had issue, Mar-
garet, Andrew, and Alexander. During his proprietor-
ship the third lot of the lands and Barony of Port-
lethen, called Glashfarquhar, was acquired from James
Thomson of Portlethen, and ‘“added, annexed, and
conjoined to the tailzied lands and estate of Banchory,
Rainieshill, &c., from which it was never to be disjoined.”
Thomson died in 1781, at the age of 34.

Andrew Thomson, his eldest son, succeeded. He
was born on 27th December, 1774, and educated at the
University of Aberdeen, at which he studied medicine.
He married Helen Hamilton, second daughter of Dr.
Robert Hamilton, professor of natural philosophy in
Marischal College, Aberdeen. He died on 13th April,
1806, in the 32nd year of his age. Smeaton says, *“ He
is remembered as a man devoted to literary and scientific
pursuits, with a considerable genius for music, and an
enthusiastic love of chemistry. He erected a building
out of doors where he could carry on his chemical
experiments.”

He was succeeded by the last and most venerable of
the Thomsons, his son, Alexander, who became laird at
the age of eight. His early training devolved entirely
upon his mother, who was known as a very superior and
most pious woman. . He studied at the Grammar School,
and thereafter at Marischal College, where he graduated
in 1816. Proceeding to Edinburgh, he studied for the

E
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bar, and passed as an advocate in 1820. He never prac-
tised—preferring the life of a country gentleman to the
worry and bustle of a lawyer. On 14th February, 1825,
he married Jessy, daughter of Alexander Fraser, ex-
Lord Provost of Aberdeen, who survived him.

Securing disentail and devoting great attention to the
improvement of his estates, as also to county business,
Mr. Thomson speedily became one of the most popular
proprietors in the north, The old house of Banchory,
which was erected in middle of the seventeenth century,
having become ruinous, he had a massive new mansion
erected on same site. The foundation-stone was laid with
much ceremony on 21st January, 1840. He was ordained
an elder of the Parish Church at Banchory; but subse-
quently becoming more of the evangelical turn of mind,
he resigned office. In the Disruption controversy, he
took a very prominent part, sparing neither time nor
money in advancing the cause of the Free Church.
On 1st June, 1833, he laid the foundation-stone of a Free
Church at New Machar, on his estate of Rainieshill,
and he was the means of forming a congregation and pro-
curing a minister for the Free Church of Banchory-
Devenick, which was built almost entirely at his own
expense. In September Dr. Chalmers paid a week’s
visit to Mr. Thomson at Banchory House, and, on
the 1oth of that month, preached on the lawn to
an immense congregation, drawn from many miles
around, including Aberdeen. At the Free Church
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General Assembly of 1844 Mr. Thomson suggested a
scheme for providing manses for the clergy, and the
establishment of the Theological Hall at the Free Church
College, Aberdeen, was mainly due to his exertions.
Between the years 1847 and 1857 Mr. Thomson’s
time was greatly taken up by antiquarian and geological
studies ; as also with enquiries into the social condition
of the people. In 1859, when the Prince Consort
visited Aberdeen to take part in the business of the
British Association, of which he was president, Mr.
Thomson had the honour of entertaining him at Banchory
House.* About this time symptoms of failing health
began to manifest themselves, and he was thereafter
compelled to forego several of the investigations in which
he had hitherto taken such an active interest. With
diminished strength, however, he pursued his studies, issu-
ing many pamphlets on scientific and antiquarian subjects.
He died on 20th May, 1868, aged 70. Under his trust
disposition and settlement he bequeathed to the Free
Church College in Aberdeen about £16,000 in cash,
and the valuable library and interesting museum he had
collected at Banchory House. The collection included

* In commemoration of the Prince Consort’s visit Mr. Thomson
caused a granite monument to be erected at Tollo Hill on the estate,
which is thus inscribed:—

‘IN REMEMBRANCE OF THE VISIT OF
H. R. H. ALBERT PRINCE CONSORT,
TO THIS SPOT.

XV. SEPTEMBER, MDCCCLIX.”
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a watch said to have been given by Queen Mary to John
Knox at the time when she was anxious to conciliate
him. The watch came into the Thomson family through
Mr. Thomson’s grandmother.

The arms of the Thomsons are—Argent, a stag’s
head, cabossed, gules; attired or; on a chief wavy of the
second, a lozenge between two spur-rowels of the field.
Crest—A crane holding a palm-branch in the beak, all
ppr. Mottoes—Over the crest— Cure cedit fatum
Under the Arms—Secum cuigue.*

In 1872 the estate was sold by Mr. Thomson’s
Trustees to Mr. John Stewart, comb manufacturer,
Aberdeen, for £76,000. The career of the late Mr.
Stewart was a remarkable one, and might be cited
among the many examples of what a determined, per-
severing, and sound-headed Scotchman can accom-
plish. Born in Perth in 1810, he started the business
of combmaking in Edinburgh about 1828, in partner-
ship with a friend of the name of Whitehead. The
venture did not succeed ; but, nothing daunted, Stewart
removed to Aberdeen, where he started a similar busi-
ness in Mealmarket Lane, this time in partnership with
his brother-in-law, Mr. Joseph Rowell. Combs were then
made by hand, but gradually, as the concern increased,
it became imperative to introduce machinery. In 1835
the manufactory was removed to larger premises in

* Burke’s Landed Gentry, p. 1200.
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Hutcheon Street, where the business grew and flourished
till it became the largest combmaking centre in the world.
Such handsome annual profits were realized that in 1848
Mr. Rowell retired with an ample fortune. Mr. Stewart,
on the other hand, embarked the larger share of his
savings in the Great North of Scotland Railway Com-
pany. This interest induced him to become also a share-
holder and director of the Aberdeen and L.ondon Steam
Navigation Company, with the avowed object of making
Aberdeen the great competitive point for the traffic of
the north-east of Scotland, and compelling the southern
railways to compete with the Steam Company for such
traffic, and thus to modify their rates. To do this effectu-
ally he laid down the policy that the fine old paddle
passenger boats should be ultimately superseded by screw
steamers capable of working at a saving of coal, that the
sailings should be bi-weekly instead of weekly, and that
the tariff rates and fares should be substantially reduced.
The older directors and shareholders, however, dreaded
the effect of such drastic changes, and, a bitter opposition
springing up against him, Mr. Stewart started three rival
screw steamers—the Stanley, Kangaroo, and Gambia—
under the title of “The Northern Steam Company.” After
a tough contest an amalgamation of both companies took
place, under which Mr. Stewart became chairman, and
his policy may be fairly called the foundation of the pre-
sent active and prosperous state of the concern. The
fight had, however, cost him.upwards of 446,000, and as
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the Highland Railway from Perth to Inverness, which
was opened shortly afterwards, got a contract for the
carrying of the greater portion of the mails to the north,
which had previously been carried by the Great North
Railway, a panic set in amongst the shareholders of the
latter, and its stock was depreciated to such an extent
that Mr. Stewart was obliged to relinquish everything,
including his estate of Craigiebuckler. His firm of S. R.
Stewart & Co., however, weathered this crisis, and after
a few years of successful trading, he was enabled in 1872
to purchase the estate of Banchory, as before mentioned.
He died on 25th January, 1887, and was interred in
the Free Church burying-ground, Banchory-Devenick.
His wife, Mary Irvine, died at Craigiebuckler 24 years
previously.

He was succeeded by his eldest son, David, who was
educated at the University of Aberdeen, of which he is a
graduate. He has for several years been at the head of
the combworks in Aberdeen. He is a very active busi-
ness man, and has filled many public offices. After acting
as president of the Aberdeen Chamber of Commerce,
he was elected Dean of Guild. A few years ago he was
appointed Judge at the Horners’ Exhibition held at the
Mansion House, London, and at the same time he was
elected a Liveryman of the City of London. He married
Margaret Dyce, eldest daughter of Principal Brown, and
has issue four sons—David Brown Douglas, William
Dyce, George Irvine, and Charles—and five daughters—
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Mary, Alexandra Catherine Dyce, Julia Charlotte, Jessie,
and Margaret Isabel. Mary is married to Mr. Charles-
Niven, professor of natural philosophy in the University
of Aberdeen, who was senior wrangler of his year, and
has since been elected a Fellow of Trinity College,
Cambridge.
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THE PARISH CHURCH AND HISTORY OF
SAINT DEVENICK.

The patron Saint of Banchory-Devenick was one
Devenicus, a disciple of St. Columba. Like most of the
good men of Iona his history is obscure. Trained in the
rigorous school over which the great Saint presided, he
was sent forth, like the other disciples, from the little
island to the rough mainland with its rougher people, to
endeavour to convert them from Paganism. After wan-
dering on his mission through various districts of Scot-
land, he founded a church at Methlick, in which parish,
on the second Tuesday of November, till within recent
years, a fair or market, called St. Devenick’s Fair, was
regularly held. His chief connection, however, lay with
the parish of Banchory-Devenick, which took its name
from him.

The following legends, in prose and verse, are trans-
lations from latin biographies of the Saint :—¢ While the
most blessed Fathers, Columba and Mauricius, were
preaching the faith of Christ in Scotland, St. Devenicus,
the celebrated Confessor of Christ, famous for his life and
sanctity, flourished ; a man, indeed, given up in an un-
usual degree to holy and religious works, after the manner
of the age : who, burning with divine love, being inspired
by the Holy Spirit, said to St. Mauricius, ‘ You see, O
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Master, what a great number of people there is in this
province given up to the worship of idols, and how few
works of the ministry of God: therefore 1 ask that if
it please you we separate in the work of ministry through
the breadth of the kingdom. You, indeed, tell the Word
of God to the nation of Picts. I will depart to the pro-
vince of the Cathini, and proceed to announce the doctrine
of Christ to them.” St. Mauricius said, ‘ Now, Brother,
we will again be joined,” and he said, ‘We will also be
joined forever in the heavenly life, and there be glad and
rejoice with Christ.  Only, this more do I ask of you in
the name of our Master, that since near death enshrouds
me, when I am dead you will cause my body to be carried
to this place and buried here.” St. Mauricius also assent-
ing, St. Devenicus departed to the Cathini, boldly preach-
ing the Word of God there, and converting many persons
to the faith of Christ. Mauricius, the blessed man, wan-
dering through the whole kingdom of the Picts, by praying
and exhorting them, and by doing many wonderful things,
and making many signs, brought an infinite multitude of
them under the faith. He even caused the chiefs and
leaders and also the nobles of the land to believe on Christ;
and, having there destroyed the temples of the idols, and
having overthrown their altars, he ordered houses of
meeting to be built. In these days it happened that the
most holy old man, Devenicus, of whom we have made
mention, having advanced to a long old age, spent his life
in this manner. When he came to the end of his life,
F
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having called some of his servants to him, said, * When I
am dead, take up my body, and carry it to one of the
meetings of St. Mauricius, and say to him that I remember
his promise which I got from him when I was going
away.” Having said these things he gave up the ghost,
and his men, carrying out his orders, carried him to a cer-
tain hall which was in a neighbouring monastery. And
on the following night, whilst the blessed Mauricius was
keeping watch at his orisons, he saw angels descending
on the house in which the body of St. Devenick was.
The holy man said to his brothers, * The most holy man
came to us a guest, come let us visit him and perform the
duty of humanity which we owe to him.” But when they
came to the house they did not find the body, for they
passed the porters and ascended into the mountain, there
desiring to rest for a short time. The Saint with his
men, following on their track, found them in a place which
is called Crosta. There, therefore, the devoted man
stayed beside the remains of the holy old man, keeping
watch with psalms, prayers and preachings, and unwearied
with assiduous watching. These finished, they carried
the body to a place of which the name is Banchory-
Devenick, and there gave it up to be honourably buried.
They built a hall which is called, even to this day, after
the name of that old man, Banchory-Devenick, where the
merits of that Saint intervening, many benefits are con-
ferred on the erring by the assistance of our Lord Jesus
Christ, to whom be the honour, forever, Amen!”
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So much for the prose story. The versified one is
hardly less interesting :—

Nocht lang eftire apone a day

(To) sanct Machor a mane cane say:
That sanct Dewynnik In-to Catnes
Thru gret eilde falyeit and ded was ;
And quhene he one his dedstra lay,
To thaime that nest war he cane say:
Sene that ye se ded sall me tak,

I coniure you for godis sak

That yhe for na trawall be Irke

To bere my body to sume kirk,
Qubharfor sanct Machor has keping,
And pray hyme for the hewynnis king
That he meyne one and thochtfull be
Of his hicht that ye mad to me

Of his gud will at our partyng.

With this of spek he mad ending

And yaulde the gast but mare abad.
And thai that this commawndment had,
To tak his body war nocht Irk

And one a bere brocht till a kirk

That was bot litill fra that place

That befor to thaime lentyne was.
And quhene that sanct Machor this tale
Has herd as I haf tald yu hale,

He mad regrat and had disese.

But, for he durst nocht god disples,
That nycht but slepe all haile he lay
In his prayere, till it wes day:
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And in that kirk with fleschely eyne
Full feile brycht angelis he has sene

Fle upe and doune, makand thaire play.
Qubhar at the cors of Dewynnik lay.
Thane was sanct Machor blyth and glad
For this fare sicht that he sene had.
And one the mornc quhene it was day,
Till his discipulis this cane say:

Lowe we all god, my brothir dere,

That has ws send a gud gestenere !
Tharfor mak we ws redy tyt

Hyme, as a spe afferis, to visidte

And yeld till hyme forout delay

That office that we acht to say

For worthi mene, quhene thai ded are!
With that thai passit furthmare

To the kirk quhar at sanct Machor

The angelis play had sene befor.

Bot thai that the cors brocht thiddire,
With It had gane thar way to-giddir
Ner-by of Creskane to the hill,

And thare abad, to reste in will.

Bot sanct Machor forontyne firste,
Folouit and fand thaime thaire tak reste.
And he and his thar with thame abad
Till thai the seruice all had mad

That to sic deide mene suld parteyne
Ar ony wink come in thar eyne.

And syne bare the cors deuotely

Till a place callit Banchory.
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And thare solempni with honoure
Thai grathit for it a sepulture,

And one hyme thare thai mad a kirk.
Qubhar god yeit cesis nocht to wirk
Thru his prayere ferleis full fele,

To sek and sar folk gyfand heile,
Mene callis that place quar he lay
Banchory Dewynnik till this day.

These legends represent St. Devenick as an old man
at the time St. Machar was preaching in the north-
east of Scotland; and then, as dividing the work
between himself and St. Machar, he going to Cathini
while St. Machar remained at Aberdeen. In conse-
quence of a prior compact entered into between the two
Saints, the body of St. Devenick was brought back to
Aberdeen, and buried at Banchory-Devenick. He had
a dedication at Creich, in Sutherland, where he was
known as “St. Teavnich.” Boece calls him, ‘Archdeacon,’
but King, Keith, and others style him ‘Bishop.” Though
the first legend represents him as a contemporary of St.
Columba, the Scottish Annalists record his death as
occurring, A.D., 887, in the reign of Soluathius. But the
Scotch Kings, named Selvach, Latinised, Soluathius,
were both in the sixth century, and thus the time of the
Saint is left in doubt, though the balance of authority
leans to the sixth century.* His feast day, 13th No-
vember, was long religiously held by the inhabitants

* Dr. Gammack, on St Devenick.
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of the parish, and a special altar was afterwards raised to
his memory in the Cathedral of Aberdeen.

The kirk of Banchory-Devenick, however, does not
appear prominently in history till the year 1163, when
Malcolm IV. granted a charter (its authenticity is doubted)
in favour of the Bishop of Aberdeen, confirming and con-
veying large tracts of land throughout the country, for the
benefit of the See which his namesake, Malcolm II., is
said to have founded at Mortlach in 1010. It had been
removed to Old Aberdeen in 1137, and among the lands
mentioned in the charter of Malcolm IV., is “the kirk of
Banchory-Devenick, with the land and pertinents.”

Nearly a hundred years later, 1256, the parson of
Banchory-Devenick was eleventh prebend of the chapter.
Each prebend had a manse and glebe, in Old Aberdeen.
‘- His manse, yard and gleib,” says Orem, describing the
prebend’s property, “lie on the west side of the Chanry ;
having on the north the Parson of Oyne’s manse, and
on the south the Parson of Ellon’s; which manse was a
great lodging, with a large yard, and a gleib of arable
land, consisting of a rigg at the end of said yard, lying
towards the Kettle Hills.” This manse continued to
be occupied by the minister of Banchory-Devenick, for
some considerable time after the Reformation.

Banchory-Devenick is interesting as being one of the
last parishes in Scotland into which Episcopacy was
attempted to be introduced. In the Spring of 1712, up-
wards of two hundred copies of the English prayer book
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were sent down from London, for gratis distribution
among the parishoners. On 19th October, following, the
assistant minister, Robert Jamieson, intimated from the
pulpit, that ‘“the excellent liturgy of the church of
England was to be used in the public worship of God in
this congregation, and accordingly the people were
seriously exhorted to perform this method of worship
with a true spirit of devotion, and with that becoming
gravity and decencie that was expected from those who
had been so exemplary heretofore in the public worship
of God.” On the following Sunday, therefore, *the liturgy
was first used,” and two months thereafter, ‘“all the dasks
in the church were made fitt for kneeling in the time of
prayers, by fixing kneeling boards in every dask.” This
mode of worship appears to have been followed for only
a very brief period, probably not beyond December, 1714,
when the Rev. James Gordon the minister, who was a
staunch Episcopalian, died. It is a singular circumstance
that, seventy years after, not a single copy of the two hun-
dred books remained in the parish, and that a tempting
offer by Dr. Morison, to the booksellers in Aberdeen,
failed to secure one.

It is impossible to state at what date the church pre-
vious to the present one was erected, but on the back of
an old pewter plate belonging to the church is a rude
tracing of what is believed to represent it. It had been a
small low roofed building with two windows on the south
side, and a sort of belfry with entrance door at one end.
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The date given is 1642. In the beginning of last century
the fabric had fallen into a somewhat unsatisfactory state.
“ Divots” or “sods” were frequently required to fill up
gaps in the walls; and although no great attention was
paid to comfort, the parishioners had evidently had a
desire to improve the appearance of the structural ar-
rangements. On 23rd November, 1712, ‘“the minister
and elders, taking to their serious consideration that
whereas the pulpit in the church was very mean and in-
sufficient, it was judged proper for the greater decencie
and ornament of the church that there should be a new
pulpit, and reading dask made of firr wood, and handsome
and good work, and the management and ordering thereof
was committed to the assistant.” After the wear and tear
of another century, however, the whole building became
decayed ; and in 1821 the state of the church was such that
it became imperative on the heritors either to substantially
renew the old structure or provide a new church in its stead.
A strong movement was made by certain parishioners
resident on the coast side of the parish to have the church
removed from the old site to the top of the hill of Ban-
chory, but the minister and several of the heritors were
opposed to it. Ultimately estimates were taken for the
renewing and enlarging of the old building, and also for
erecting a new church from the foundation. It was then
found that the one would cost about as much as the other,
and, as the leading heritors were in favour of the latter
scheme, it was unanimously agreed that the old building
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should be pulled down, and a substantial one, capable of
accommodating nine hundred sitters, erected in its place.
The kirk-session records show that the new church was
opened for divine service on 29th September, 1822, and
that on the previous twenty-five Sundays the congregation
had met for worship in the churchyard, where the pulpit and
seats had been temporarily set up. It is worthy of note,
that on none of these twenty-five Sundays had a single
drop of rain fallen during the services, whilst on the day the
church was opened rain fell heavily. It was not till the year
1865 that the area of the church was floored with wood
and a system of heating introduced. Prior to this, rough
blocks of stone served as a floor, and the idea of heating
would have been considered grossly extravagant.

The old church bell, believed to have been cast in the
year 1597, having become useless, was sold in 1868. It
bore the following inscription, which is old German :—
H B. Alleine. Got . In. Der . Hoge . Sei . Ere . 1597.
The translation is. Alone to God in Heaven be Praise.
A new bell was provided and hung, but it possesses
nothing like the rich and mellow tone of the old one.
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MINISTERS OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK.

1425. John Clatt, vicar.* The probabilities are that
this is the same John Clatt referred to by Kennedy as
being the original founder of Saint Thomas’ Hospital,
which stood near Saint Nicholas Church, Aberdeen.
“ By the charter of foundation, dated May 28, 1459, Clatt
granted all his lands and tenements in the Netherkirkgate
for erecting the hospital in honour of God, the blessed
Virgin Mary, and all Saints, and particularly for the
honour of Saint Thomas, the martyr; and appointed
Mr. John Chawmers to be master and rector. After his
and the founder’s death, the patronage of the institution
was to devolve upon the provost and community for ever.
The founder also endowed it with annuities in perpetuity,
amounting to 41 4s. 8d., arising from certain tenements in
the town; and also with an annuity of 6 merks, to be
levied from the lands of Mondynes, in the county of
Kincardine, for celebrating, in the hospital, masses for
the salvation of his own soul, and for the souls of James II.,
and of Alexander Stuart, Earl of Mar, of his own father
and mother, and of all the faithful departed, accofding to
the custom of the age.”f

* Antiguities of Aberdeen and Banff, Vol. iii., p. 517,
t Kennedy's Annals of Aberdeen, Vol, ii., pp. 78, 79.
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1497. Alexander Campbell, prebendary.

1508. Alexander Cabell, successor. He mortified
410 of yearly rent to be paid from the land of Murie-
croft, with its pertinents, to pray at the altar of St.
Devenick. Adam Hepburn of Craggis ‘oblist hym and
his airs to Alexander Cabell, persown of Banchory
Dewynyk that forsamekle as the said Alexander had
resignit the haf land of Murcroft, the foresaid Adam or
his airis shuld deliver ane mortification of ten punds of
annual rent to ane chaplainry fundit at Sanct Dewynik
altar situat in the cathedrale kirk of Aberdeen and shuld
present nain thereto bot quhom that pleiss the said Mr.
Alexander.”® It was expressly stipulated that after mass
the tomb of the founder should be sprinkled with conse-
crated water, and the psalm, De Profundss, repeated.
Cabell wasone of the umpires chosen, in 1508, to define
the marches between the lands of Ardefrie and those
of Ardendracht and Ashallo.

1526. Henry Forsyth, successor.t

1541. Patrick Dunbar, successor.

1567. David Menzies, minister of Nigg and Ban-
chory-Devenick, with Robert Merser, person, exhorter
and administrator of the sacraments at a stipend of
£34 13s. 4d. Scots. Nothing is now known of the

* Registrum Aberdonensts, p. 352.
+ Fasti Aberdonenses.
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history of Menzies, but it is evident that he had not held
the appointment for any lengthened period.

1571. Robert Merser. In this year, Merser, who
had acted as assistant under Menzies, succeeded to the full
charge. He was of the family of Innerpeffry, in Strath-
earn, senior cadets of the Mersers of Meiklour. He had
possibly secured the appointment through the influence of
Erskine of Dun, superintendent of Angus and the Mearns,
to whom the Mersers were related by marriage. In the
assembly of 1575 a complaint was lodged against Erskine
for admitting him to the office, on the ground ‘“that he
was unable to discharge his cure;” but, as it was stated
that he had been duly put upon trial by his brethren of
Aberdeen, nothing came of it. He died before 25th
February, 1578-9, leaving three sons—Malcolm, rector of
Crieff; Robert who succeeded to the benefice of Banchory-
Devenick ; and Thomas.*

1578. Robert Merser, son of the foregoing, suc-
ceeded. For some time previously he had acted as a
regent in King’s College, and as such was the teacher of
John Johnston, the eminent Latin poet and scholar, who -
by his last will and testament bequeathed to Merser,
his “auld kynd maister,” his ‘“white cap with the
silver fit in taikin of thankful dewtie.” The Presby-
tery in 1602 ‘“fund Mr. Merser negligent in teaching
and exercising of discipline,” yet there was ‘“a rare

* Jervise’s Epitaphs and Inscriptions, and Scott's Fastr.
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commendation of the people, and quhen they are as-
semblit litill reverence or attendance geiven to the word
teached, and therefore he was scharplie admonishit.” In
the following year it was reported that “he teaches better
and oftner now sen he has his residence in Aberdeen,
than he did quhen he was resident with them, notwith-
standing he was ordained to reside.” The Presbytery in
1610 “fund him sumquhat cauld in his doctrine and
delyuerie thairof, and that he has delapidat his benefice,
and therefore the auld processe to be reuiset.” The stip-
end in 1606 was given up at 200 merks.* Merser was one
of the assenting parties to the Disposition, granted in 1613
to the “minister of sanct Nicolas of 200 lb. yeerlie out of
the salmound fischerys teyndis vpon Done Water,”

1627. Andrew Melvin or Melvill, M.A., successor,
was admitted about 1627, and subscribed the Covenant
in 1638. Spalding says he was recognized as a shrewd
business man, and adds, that when he, along with two
other ministers, was chosen to represent the Presbytery
at the Assembly of 1641 “Mr. Androw is vrgit to dimit,
whiche ignorantlie contrair his credit, he did.”t

1651. William Robertson, who had been educated
at King’s College, Aberdeen, succeeded. He married in
1630 Isobel Gordon, who, with three sons and three
daughters, survived him. He died 16th June, 1656, aged
about 46 years.

*Scott’s Fasti; Presb. Reg's; Book of the Kirk,; Gordon’s Aberdeen &c.
t Scott’s Fasti; Spalding’s Trubles, &c.
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1657. David Lyell, eldest son of Walter Lyell, town
clerk of Montrose, and licensed as a preacher of the gospel
by the Presbytery of Brechin in 1656, was presented to the
charge of Banchory-Devenick in the following year, and
ordained there by the Presbytery of Aberdeen. The
famous Andrew Cant, who then held a city charge, was
present at the ordination, and when Lyell, three years later,
pronounced the sentence of deposition upon him, the
latter, who was in church at the time, stood up and in a
sorrowful voice exclaimed, “ Davie, Davie, I kent aye ye
wad do this sin the day I laid my hands on your heid.”
Cant, by the way, once “teichit at Banchorie-Devnik, to
whome flokkit sindrie puritanes out of Abirdein to heir
him—a gryte covenanter—veray bussie in thir alterationis
and mortall enemy touardis the bischoppis.” Lyell was
translated to the the third charge of Aberdeen in 1666,
and thence to the first charge in Montrose in 1673.
He was elected minister of Edinburgh (Trinity College
Church) 18th December, 1678, but he did not accept
it, and died in March 1696, in the 62nd year of
his age. He had a “thundering way of preach-
ing,” was very popular with his parishoners, and
mortified a considerable sum for behoof of the poor of
Montrose.* :

1667. James Gordon, M.A., was the son of Dr
William Gordon, physician, and professor of medicine in

* Scott’s Fasti, and Memorials of Angus and Mearns.



HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK. 47

King’ College, Aberdeen. Spalding describes him
as ‘““ane of the foundit memberis of the colledge of
Old Abirdein, and common procuratour thairof, a
godlie, grave, lerned man, and singular in commoun
warkis about the colledge, and putting wp on the stepill
thairof most glorious, as you sie, ane staitlie crowne
throwne doun be the wynd abefoir.” He had no
sooner secured the pastorate of Banchory-Devenick, at
Martinmas 1667, than he threw himself with the utmost
zeal into the fierce contest then raging throughout
the country, whether the Presbyterian or Episcopalian
form of church government should obtain the supremacy.
Dr. Grub, in his Ecclesiastical History of Scotland, says
that “from conviction and hereditary feeling, strongly
attached to the hierarchy, the parson of Banchory
submitted with reluctance to those defects which the
prudence or timidity of the Bishops did not attempt
to remedy. Having considerable family influence, he
was probably looked up to as a leader by the younger
clergy, who composed the discontented party. The re-
cords of the diocese show that he was of a hasty temper ;
and, according to the statements of his opponents, his
zeal was sharpened by disappointed ambition.” He was
present at the meeting of the Bishop’s Court on 23rd
May, 1676, when the ‘“‘masters of aither of the colledges,”
were ‘‘appoynted to think upon the most feasable
way for restraining the students from Inglish speaking
within the Colledge gates, from swearing and obscene
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talking.”* In 1679 he published a book entitled 7/%e¢ Re-
formed Bishop, or X1X. Articles, tendered by a well-wisher
of the present government of the Church of Scotland (as
it is settled by law) in order to the further establishment
thereof. The work, which was remarkable for its erudition
and argumentative tenor, denounced in the most scathing
terms the so-called corruptions prevailing throughout the
Church. No names of individuals were mentioned, but
the references were of such a pointed character that it was
impossible to mistake for whom they were intended. The
author concluded by urging the establishment of such a
moderate Episcopacy as Charles I. was ready to grant—
a system he stated, which, in that king’s own words,
“would at once satisfy all just desires and interests of
good bishops, humble presbyters, and sober people; so
as church affairs should be managed neither with tyranny,
parity, nor popularity, neither bishops ejected, nor presby-
ters despised, nor people oppressed.”t

The publication of the work caused the utmost anger
and bitterness, not only in Aberdeen, but throughout the
whole country. A pasquil of the period, epigrammatically
told the parson, who became nicknamed the “ Reformed
Bishop,”

“If your book had never been seen,
You had been Bishop of Aberdeen,
If you had been Bishop of Aberdeen,
Your book had never been seen.”

* Fasti Aberdonenses, p. 342.
t The Reformed Bishop.
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He was summoned for trial in January, 1680, before an
Episcopal Synod at which Archbishop Burnet presided.
The Synod, while acknowledging the error of the parson,
took a charitable view of the case. “For all which
malicious, slanderous and impious defamations,” runs the
closing passage of the sentence, ‘‘notwithstanding that
the said Mr. James Gordon hath rendered himself justly
obnoxious to the highest and heaviest censure of the
Church, as having incurred the curse of wicked Cham in
the most eminent degree, yet we have, in order to the
vindication of the honour of the Church and its governors,
and for the reclaiming, if possible, of the said Mr. James
out of the snare of the Devil, into which, through his
malice and ambition, he hath wilfully thrown himself,
thought fit at this time to proceed only to the sentence of
deposition.” In an Act of the Privy Council in No-
vember, 1680, the book was classed among seditious and
forbidden works, such as Buchanan’s De Jure Regui,
Calderwood’s History, and Naphtali. This sentence was
considered by many as more severe than the offence
warranted ; but Mr. Gordon having expressed his sor-
row, and craved pardon of all whom he had offended
by publishing the work, the Bishops recalled their
former sentence, and, on 14th March following, he had
the satisfaction of being re-instated to his office and
benefice at Banchory-Devenick. In 1689 he and the
minister of Cruden were appointed by the Synod of
Aberdeen to draw up an address relative to the proposed
H
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abolition of Prelacy, &c. ; and, five years later, he
appeared before a Commission, and lodged a formal pro-
test against the authority exercised by the late Assembly.
Besides publishing 77%e Reformed Bishop, he was the
author of many other works—Reguest to Roman Catholics,
1687 ; Some Observations on the Fables of Asop, 1700 ;
Reflections on L’ Estrange's Translation of AEsop's Fables,
1700; The Character of a Generous Prince, 1703 ; Some
Charitable Observations on Forbes Treatise of Church
Lands and Tithes, 1706 ; Some Just Reflections on a
Pasquil against the Parson of Banchory, 1706—(the two
latter were answered by Mr. William Forbes, afterwards
professor of law in the University of Glasgow); Queries
about Popery. He was married to Elizabeth Forbes, by
whom he had issue. His eldest son, James, who married
Catherine Collison, was for sometime a rector in York-
shire, and afterwards episcopal clergyman of Montrose.
Like his father he also fell into the bad graces of his
brethren, for ““intruding upon the paroche of Foveran”—
an offence for which he was summoned before “a
considerable number of the clergy of the country,” at
the instance of the laird of Udny. “It would fill a
volume to give an account of this affair,” wrote Wod-
row’s correspondent, Langlands, “ but, in short, after
a prepared speech, larded with Latine phrases, had by
Mr. James Gordon of Banchrie, they gave in some queries
to which they got an answer, then gave in an appeal
with these queries in its bosome.” The appeal was
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withdrawn from, however, and the matter thereupon
dropped. Gordon’s other son was George, who gradu-
ated M.D. at King’s College in 1696. Notwithstand-
ing the strong episcopalian tendencies which all along
pervaded the parson of Banchory-Devenick, he took
a keen interest in the temporal, as well as the spirit-
ual welfare of his parishioners. It was no doubt through
his personal influence over his hearers that he got them
to submit to the introduction of Episcopacy. As pro-
prietor of the lands of Ardoe, and a connection of the
powerful family of Seaton, he was possessed of a con-
siderable annual income. In 1710 he mortified 40 pounds
Scots, to be paid annually in all time coming from the
lands of Ardoe, for the benefit of the poor of the parish.
The deed of mortification is of the most exacting and
unalterable character, winding up by insisting that the
minister and members of session, as patrons, ‘“shall duly
maintain and administrate the same in all time coming,
and adhere thereto in the terms expressed without any
change or alteration whatsomever, as they will answer to
God ; and as they would wish to be saved at the great
day of judgment.” He died 24th December, 1714,
aged 74.

1716. John Maitland, son of an advocate in
Aberdeen, was licensed by the Presbytery of Aberdeen in
May, 1700; ordained minister of Skene in September
following ; was called by the Presbytery to Banchory-
Devenick, jure devoluto, 17th August, 1715; and inducted
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there on 1st March following. He married Agnes,
daughter of Mr. Thomson, advocate in Aberdeen, and
she survived him. He died in March, 1727, in the 27th
year of his ministry. As a clergyman he was beloved and
respected by his parishioners, who deeply regretted his
premature demise. His son, James, became minister of
the parish of Sorbie on the south-east corner of Wigton-
shire.

1728. John Lumsden, son of Alexander Lumsden of
Auchenlett, schoolmaster of Chapel of Garioch, ordained
minister of Keith-hall and Kinkell in 1721, and presented
to the charge of Banchory-Devenick in 1728. He married
a sister of the last laird of the Leslie family, who was
proprietor of Pitcaple. This laird, who was an officer in
the army, died in 1757, when the property fell to Mrs.
Lumsden. Her two daughters subsequently sold Pitcaple
to Henry Lumsden, grandfather of the present proprietor,
Mr. Henry Lumsden.* Lumsden, who was an excellent
preacher and a shrewd business man, was about 1734
honoured with the appointment as one of the Deans of
the Chapel Royal. Two years later he was appointed
professor of divinity in King’s College, Aberdeen, when
he demitted his pastorate of Banchory-Devenick, and
preached his farewell sermon there on 7th Navember,
1736. He was moderator of the General Assembly of
1746, and died in 1771.

* Inverurie and Earidom of Gariock ; Castles of
Aberdeenshire, &c.
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1737. James Nicolson, who had been licensed by the
Presbytery of Haddington in 1734, was presented to the
charge of Banchory-Devenick by George I1., in January,
1737, and ordained there on 13th September of that year.
The way in which the presentation fell to him was remark-
able. More than a century before, Thomas Garden, a
younger son of one of the lairds of Banchory, and a
prominent member of the incorporated trades of Aberdeen,
leased from Mr. Menzies of Pitfodels the lands of
Gilcomston, at the annual rental of 427 15s. 6d. He
acquired a competency, and left to his eldest daughter
27,000 merks Scots—a very considerable sum in those
days. To the regret of her relatives she married a
Lieutenant Cadogan, at that time a subaltern officer in
Oliver Cromwell’s army. But the marriage, though at first
disappointing, proved in the end to be both advantageous
and honourable. Her husband rose to be a colonel, a
general, and latterly was created a peer. From him were
descended the Lords and Earls Cadogan, the Dukes of
Richmond and Leinster, Earl Verney, Lord Holland, the
Right Hon. Charles James Fox, and other persons of the
highest rank in England, through intermarriage with the
Cadogan family. What is still more to their honour, they
did not neglect their Scotch relatives, who at first thought
themselves affronted by Miss Garden’s marriage. On the
vacancy occurring at Banchory-Devenick through the
resignation of Mr. Lumsden, Lord Cadogan used his
influence at Court, with the result that the King gave the
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living to Mr. Nicolson, who was a son of the second
daughter of Mr. Thomas Garden, and thus nephew of the
first Lord Cadogan. In 1760 Mr. Nicolson instituted
a process against the heritors which depended for six
years, when he got decree establishing his former stipend
out of the parsonage teinds, and throwing the vicarage on
the heritors at 400 merks per annum. He was twice
married : first, to Janet, daughter of George Haliburton,
Lord Provost of Edinburgh, and by her he had issue
one daughter and two sons. Out of respect to Lord
Cadogan, he named the daughter Cadogan, and one of
the sons Charles, the other being named George Hali-
burton. Charles was for sometime minister of Amster-
dam, and afterwards chaplain to the British Embassy at
Constantinople. Mr. Nicolson’s second wife was Helen
Thom, to whom he was married in May 1772.  Accord.
ing to the quaint entry in the session book on 4th June
following, “at 7 o’clock in the morning,” he “paid the
debt of nature, aged 65 years.” Mr. Nicolson was deeply
regretted by his parishioners with whom he was an
especial favourite, for he was eminently a man of peace,
who found his chief delight in the faithful and conscien-
tious discharge of his parochial duties.*

1773. George Ogilvie, schoolmaster of Auchterhouse,
licensed by the Presbytery of Dundee in 1747, was pre-
sented to the charge of Cortachy by its patron, John, Earl

* Scott’s Fasti, Skene Keith'’s Agricultural Survey, and Session Records.
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of Airlie, in 1748, and received a presentation to Banchory-
Devenick from George III., in 1772, being inducted on
8th July of the following year. He died, 17th April,
1785, in the 65th year of his age and 37th of his ministry,
survived by his wife, Katherine Anderson, who died,
28th March, 1800, aged 81, and two sons. One of these,
Skene Ogilvie, was laureated at the University and King’s
College, Aberdeen, in 1773; was licensed in 1776 ; or-
dained minister of Skene 1777; translated to Old
Machar in 1784, and died 12th December, 1831.%

1785. George Morison, M.A., fifth son of James
Morison of Elsick (who was Lord Provost of Aberdeen
at the time of the Rebellion of 1745-46), was educated at
the University and King's College, Aberdeen, where he
graduated in 1776. Passing through the Divinity course
with distinction, he was licensed by the Presbytery of
Aberdeen in 1782, received a presentation to the parish
of Oyne in the Presbytery of Garioch in the same year,
and in 1785 he was presented by George III. to
the parish of Banchory-Devenick, being inducted 1oth
November of same year. . From the outset he took the
liveliest possible interest in his parishioners to whom he
became greatly attached. In the discharge of the various
parochial duties of the parish he was ably assisted by his
wife, Margaret Jaffray (they were married 26th June,
1786), who was a descendant of the Jaffrays of Kingswells,

* Scott’s Fasti, Session Records of Skene, &c.
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Aberdeen, so well known from their connection with the
Society of Friends. Mr. Morison’s brother, Thomas, who
was at one time a physician in London, and subsequently
proprietor of the estates of Elsick and Disblair, aided in the
introduction of the benefits of vaccination into the parish.
On the decease of this brother, the Rev. Mr. Morison suc-
ceeded to the estates mentioned, and the large annual in-
come he subsequently derived enabled him to do many acts
of benevolence. In the year 1800, when there was all but
a famine in the district, he bought meal at exorbitant prices,
stored it in a granary, and by his own hand doled it out
from time to time to such as were in want. By these
means he kept many from actual starvation. He had the
degree of D. D. conferred upon him by the University
and King’s College, Aberdeen, in 1824. He contributed
handsomely to the fund for endowment of Portlethen
Church (guoad sacra),; erected a school and school-
house at Portlethen, and bequeathed large legacies for
the support of the teacher, as also for a female school
teacher at Banchory-Devenick. Perhaps his greatest
act of liberality, however, was the erection in 1837 of
the suspension bridge across the Dee at Cults. Previ-
ous to this a parish boat was the only method by which
communication could be maintained between the north
and south side of the parish. Owing, however, to fre-
quent floods of the river and floes of ice in the winter
season, this mode of transportation could not always
be depended on. The construction of the bridge cost
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about 41400, which was borne entirely by Dr. Morison,
who also left a large sum to the minister and kirk-session
of the parish as trustees ‘‘to maintain and uphold it in
time coming.” The bridge, which is popularly known as
the chain or shaking bridge, bears the following inscrip-
tion on a cast-iron plate which is built into the south-east
parapet :—
MDCCCXXXVIIL
SAINT DEVENICK BRIDGE,
ERECTED BY GEORGE MORISON, D.D. OF ELSICK, FOR THE
ACCOMMODATION OF THIS PARISH, OF WHICH HE HAS NOW

BEEN LII. YEARS PASTOR. JOHN SMITH, ARCHITECT ;
J. DUFFUS & CO., G. DONALDSON AND G. BARCLAY, CONTRACTORS.

In recognition of his munificence and liberality the
parishioners presented him with a handsome testimonial
on the occasion of his jubilee. He was the author of
several publications—two single Sermons 1831-32; A
Brief Outline of the External Framework and [nternal
Constitution of the Appoiniments of the Church of Scot-
land, as by Law established, 1840 ; State of the Church
of Scotland in 1830 and 1840 Contrasted, 1840, Accounts
of the Parisk (Sinclairs IV. and New Stat. Acc. X1. XXI).
He died on 13th July, 1845, father of the Church
of Scotland, in the 88th year of his age, and 63rd of
his ministry. The tribute paid in the minutes of the
kirk-session on his death represents the feeling of the
whole district. ““To enumerate instances of his private
benevolence would be endless, as in this way he was

I
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continually doing good. As moderator of this court
the session bear testimony to his excellent judgment
and enlightened views in the management of the
whole business, to his great anxiety to economize the
poor’s funds, and to supply the poor at the same time with
the necessaries of life, to his mixture of impartiality and
tenderness in the exercise of church discipline, and to his
conciliatory, kind and friendly demeanour towards the
other members of the session. In fine, the session feel
with deep regret that, in the death of Dr. Morison, the
parish has sustained a great public loss, the extent of
which is perhaps not yet fully felt, and which, in many
respects they fear it is not probable will in their day ever
be repaired.” At his death his nephews, Captain Robert
Farquhar of the Madras Infantry, succeeded to Elsick,
and Professor Mearns of King's College, Aberdeen, to
Disblair, respectively. Elsick was subsequently sold to
the deceased Sir Alexander Bannerman, Bart. of Crimon-
mogate, whose ancestors had previously owned it;
and Disblair now belongs to Professor Mearns’ son, the
Rev. Dr. Mearns, minister of Kinneff. The Rev. D. G.
Mearns, the only son of Dr. Mearns, is the present
minister of Oyne, to which Dr. Morison was first called.

1826. William Paul, M.A., eldest son of the Rev.
William Paul, minister of Maryculter, afterwards professor
of natural philosophy in King’s College, Aberdeen, was
born at the manse of Maryculter on 27th September, 1804.
His mother was daughter of the Rev. John Hutcheon,
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minister of Fetteresso. He attended the Grammar
School, Old Aberdeen, and subsequently King’s College,
at which he graduated in arts in 1822. In that year
he went to England, where he taught for sometime
very successfully, in a private academy in Colchester.
Even whilst attending his divinity course in Aberdeen, he
contrived between the sessions to visit England, and find
work there as a tutor. In the spring of 1826, when
little more than 21 years of age, he was licensed by the
Presbytery of Aberdeen, and thereupon became assistant
to his grand-uncle, Dr. Morison, at Banchory-Devenick.
In the autumn of the same year he was ordained as a
minister, but it was not till eight years later that he
received the formal appointment as assistant and success-
or, in the charge of Banchory parish. By this time Dr.
Morison, the senior minister, was getting old and infirm,
and the burden of the ministerial work now devolved
almost entirely upon his ordained assistant. In July,
1845, on the decease of Dr. Morison, he succeeded to
the full charge. He discharged his duty well and faith-
fully. “As a preacher,” in the words of a newspaper
obituary notice, ‘“he was earnest, simple, and persuasive,
adapting his language to the understanding of the
humblest of his flock ; but by his elegance of style and
lucidity of arrangement, attracting and instructing the
most cultured. But in his parochial, as distinguished
from his ministerial work, he took special delight. To
visit the fatherless and widows in their affliction, to
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attend the sick beds of his people, and to minister advice,
encouragement and consolation, he accounted the highest
privilege and the most sacred duty of a Christian minister.”
As a linguist and educationist, he had few, if any, equals
in the ministry, and as such he attained much distinc-
tion. In 1857 he published, Awnalysis and Critical
Lxamination of the Hebrew Text of the Book of Genesis,
preceded by a Hebrew Grammar and Dissertation on the
Genuineness of the Pentateuch, and on the Structure of
the Hebrew Language. In recognition of the excellence
of this publication his 4/ma Mater conferred on him the
degree of D.D. Continuing his biblical studies with
earnestness and assiduity, he produced in 1870 another
work, entitled 7%e Scriptural Account of the Creation
Vindicated by the Teaching of Science, or a New Method
Jor Reconciling the Mosaic and Geological Records of Cre-
ation. Again in 1878 he published a third book, entitled
The Authorship and Date of the Books of Moses, which
was followed two years later by 7/e Past and Present of
Aberdeenshive. Through having for many years acted as
presbytery-clerk he acquired an excellent knowledge of
church law, and his opinions were recognized alike in the
General Assembly as in the inferior Church Courts.
During the trying time of the Disruption, when some
fifteen of the churches within the bounds of the Aberdeen
Presbytery were without ministers, the work of finding
substitutes lay entirely on his shoulders, but so com-
pletely did he combat the difficulty that not one was
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even temporarily closed. For this signal service the
members of the Presbytery subsequently presented him
with a magnificent salver and handsome tea service,
both of silver. Again on the occasion of his jubilee
in 1876 he was presented by the congregation and
friends with an illuminated address and valuable purse
of sovereigns. He was twice married—first to a daughter
of the late Baillie Stewart of Aberdeen, and secondly
to Miss Margaret Smith, daughter of the minister of
the parish of Bower in Caithness. The latter survived
him, and is now resident in Edinburgh. By his first wife
he had a large family, of whom five daughters and four
sons are still alive. Of the latter, William is an advo-
cate in Aberdeen; George is partner of the well-known
legal firm of Dundas & Wilson, W.S., Edinburgh;
David is minister of the parish of Roxburgh; and the
fourth, Edward, is principal of a college in America.
From 1881 Dr. Paul's health gradually declined, and,
though carefully nursed, he passed quietly away on Sun-
day, 27th April, 1884, in the 8oth year of his age, and
58th of his ministry.

1881. William Fyfe Lawrence, M.A.,, only son of Mr.
William Lawrence, farmer, Kirkbuddo, near Forfar, and
nephew of the Rev. John Fyfe, M.A., professor of moral
philosophy in the University of Aberdeen, was born in
the parish of Carmyllie. He received his early education
at the parish school, thereafter at the Grammar School,
Old Aberdeen, and entered King’s College as a bursar,
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graduating in 1878. Choosing the ministry as a profession,
he was licensed by the Presbytery of Aberdeen in 1881,
In the summer of that year he acted for three months as
assistant to Dr. Paul, who, a month or two later, owing
to his failing health, applied to the Presbytery for an
assistant and successor. Mr. Lawrence became a candi-
date for the vacancy, and, in December following, when
the election took place, obtained a majority of votes, and
was thereupon elected. His ordination took place in the
church on 26th January, 1882, when the deceased Rev.
William Oliver of Greyfriars, Aberdeen, presided. On
the decease of Dr. Paul in April 1884, Mr. Lawrence suc-
ceeded to the full charge. In 1888 instrumental music
was introduced into the services, and the congregation
willingly raised the necessary amount to liquidate the cost
of the instrument. An additional 450 was at the same time
collected as an augmentation to the minister’s income,
which had been materially reduced owing to the fall in the
fiars’ prices, by which four-fifths of the stipend of Banchory-
Devenick is regulated. Mr. Lawrence who is possessed
of excellent mental abilities, is a powerful preacher, and
takes an active interest in the affairs of the Parochial
Board. In January, 1885, he married Miss Lizzie Milne,
daughter of Mr. William Duncan, who is a large quarry
owner near Arbroath.
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PARISH CHURCHYARD.

The probabilities are that simultaneous with the erec-
tion of the first church, the ground immediately adjoining
had been set apart as a place of sepulture. Undoubted
evidence could be furnished that for long it formed the
only public place of interment in the parish, and so largely
had its capacity been taxed, that in 1783 it was found to
be “in such a crowded state as to cause serious danger to
the church walls.” Prior to this any parishioner was en-
titled to secure burial space within the church, on payment
of a small fee, but an Act of Session was then passed that
““in future none excepting an heritor or his family, and the
minister of the parish shall be buried within the church.”
Since then three separate extensions of the burial-ground
have taken place, the last one being of such a substantial
character, that there is now ample space available for the
requirements of the parish for many years to come. Up
to the present time it may safely be computed that up-
wards of 15,000 persons have found their last resting
place in this hallowed spot.

In the beginning of the present century, owing to each
student of medicine being required” before qualifying as a
doctor to furnish a body for dissecting purposes, various
expedients were fallen upon to meet the demand. The
usual one followed, however, was that of exhuming
and stealing newly interred bodies out of the country
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churchyards. The persons engaged in the nefarious
trade went by the name of ¢ Resurrectionists,” and such
a feeling of terror and alarm did they instil in the minds
of the common orders throughout the country, that
in the end it became imperative, not only for the
Legislature to pass strong measures of repression, but for
each parish, independently, to take steps for guarding the
graves of their newly buried dead. So expeditiously, and
at the sametime so secretly were the thefts committed,
however, that in spite of all the vigilance of watchers,
bodies were repeatedly lifted and carried off. On a dark
and wintry night in the year 1813, three medical students
from Aberdeen visited the churchyard of Banchory-
Devenick for the fixed purpose of removing a body,* which

* The old churchyard of Nigg, from its proximity to Aberdeen, and
secluded situation near the bay of Nigg, was frequently visited by body-
snatchers. On 22nd December, 1808, the remains of Mrs. Spark, an
aged woman who had died in Aberdeen, were ferried across the Dee,
and decently interred in the churchyard. Next morning it was discov-
ered that during the night the body had been taken up, and carried off.
The grave was left in a most gruesome fashion—broken pieces of the
lid of the coffin, tatters of grave lin'en, and marks of blood, being left
scattered ‘about the grave. It was afterwards discovered that the perpe-
trators of the outrage were medical students belonging to Aberdeen.
They had evidently been disturbed in their transporting of the body, and,
to avoid detection, had hid it in the sand on the north side of the bay
of Nigg. A storm subsequently arose and washed it out to the bay,
where it was discovered and again interred. The ringleader in the
escapade, who was described as “a forward, impudent, not well behaved
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had that day been interred. The relations of the deceased,
however, were on the outlook, and secured the three, after
a stiff tussle. They were carried to Stonehaven, and
committed to prison on the double charge of attempting
to steal a dead body, and for an assault upon the watchers.
At the trial, which afterwards took place before the sheriff,
their guilt was clearly established, and they were ordered
to pay a fine of £20. This amount having been recovered,
the procurator-fiscal handed over a considerable proportion
of the fine for behoof of the poor of the parish.

For the comfort and protection of watchers a small
building was erected on the south side of the churchyard,
where it still stands, being now used as a tool-house by the
sexton. As many poor people could not afford to pay the
expense of “watching,” the late Mr. George Barclay,
builder, Cults, designed, and got cast two massive iron
chests or safes—coffin-shaped—each weighing about nine-
teen hundredweight, for placing around the coffin when
lowered into the grave. The iron safe was lowered by
block-and-tackle, and being correctly set, the grave was
filled up. Six weeks later, when it was considered that
decomposition had made such progress as to preclude
the chance of a visit from the ¢ body-snatchers,” the grave
was again opened and the safe removed. These safes of
Mr. Barclay’s were likewise used in many of the neigh-
bouring churchyards, but by the passing of the Act of
young man,” was obliged to leave the country for a time to escape the
wrath of the people.—Session Records of Nigg.

J
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Parliament, ordering all unclaimed bodies to be delivered
up for purposes of dissection, their further use was happily
unnecessary, One still lies in the churchyard and forms a
source of considerable attraction to visitors. Till within
comparatively recent years it was usual, on the morning
of an interment, for a lighted candle to be placed near the
dead body, and left to burn itself out. Another custom
was to stop all clocks in the house at the moment a death
occurred, and not to set them in motion again till the corpse
had been removed from the house. In some instances
there was placed on the breast of the deceased person
a platter containing a small quantity of salt and earth,
unmixed, the earth as emblematical of the corruptible
body, and the salt as symbolical of the immortal spirit.
These customs, however, together with the treating of the
funeral party to refreshments, are now rarely observed, and
the funeral rites usually followed are of the simplest
possible character,

Of instances of longevity which have occurred in the
district, the following are perhaps the most remarkable :—

1759. 27th March. Died, William Cushnie, from
an attack of the measles, aged about 100 years.

1761. Feb. Died, George Forbes, a farmer in the
adjoining parish of Maryculter, aged 106 years.

1764. 3oth April. Died last week at Wardhead of
Countesswells, in the 98th year of his age, Robert
Williamson, who was married 74 years previously, to
Isobel Wagrel, who is now left a widow in the 1ooth year
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of her age, and in so good a state of health that she has
for these last two weeks attended the weekly market in
Aberdeen, selling her butter, poultry, and eggs.

1771.  1st April. Died, George Keith, who resided
on the south side of the parish, in the 1ooth year of his
age. He followed his ordinary business till within twenty
days of his death, and continued sensible to the last.
Thirty-eight of his children and grand-children, and fifteen
of his great-grand-children, followed his remains to the
grave.

1823. In this year there died at Greenhead, in the
neighbouring parish, the widow of a farmer, aged r1o2.
She is interred in the churchyard of Maryculter.

Some of the inscriptions on the present tombstones
are given in the Appendix.
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BANCHORY-DEVENICK FREE CHURCH.

This church was erected in 1844 on a site surrounded
by trees, about a mile to the south of the parish church.
The ground, along with a sufficient space for a graveyard,
was given off, gratuitously, from the estate of Banchory,
by the proprietor, Mr. Alexander Thomson, who also
contributed handsomely to the funds of the church.

The first minister was David Findlay Arthur, who is
a native of the parish of New Cumnock in Ayrshire,
where his forefathers had been farmers for many genera-
tions, and had taken an active part in the struggles
of the Covenanters. He was educated at Glasgow Uni-
versity, in which he was for some time class assistant to
Dr. Buchanan, subsequently acting as tutor in the family
of Captain McLeod, who, with his wife, family, and
shepherds formed at the time the sole inhabitants of the
island of Rum. Duly licensed by the Church of Scotland,
Mr. Arthur acted for some time as assistant to Dr. Main
of Kilmarnock, after which he removed to Manchester, to
take charge of the Church of Scotland mission station
there. At this time the Disruption controversy was agi-
tating the country, and, as a crisis in church matters was
imminent, Mr. Arthur refused the presentation to his
native parish, which had been offered to him by its patron
and proprietor, the Marquis of Bute. When the actual
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separation came he was still at Manchester, but at once
resigned and threw in his lot with the dissenting body.
Being ordained at Banchory-Devenick in 1844, he found
hard and very trying work before him in his new charge.
Dr. Morison and his assistant, Dr. Paul, were both
popular in the parish, and as they remained in the
Establishment, there were not over fifteen available
worshippers from whom to make up a congregation. By
faithful attention and kindly acts, however, Mr. Arthur
soon succeeded in gathering around him an active and
earnest congregation, which he had the pleasure to see
yearly increasing. The labour and responsibility devolv-
ing upon him at Banchory were great ; for, not only had
he to discharge the whole ministerial duties of his own
congregation, but he had also to attend to the duties
of moderator of the session at Cults and Bourtriebush,
till regularly ordained ministers were appointed there.
He married Miss Brown, daughter of Mr. Brown of
Cardens Haugh, by whom he had four sons and one daugh-
ter. In 1883, owing to failing health, he was reluctantly
obliged to apply to the Presbytery of the bounds for an
assistant and successor. The request was at once com-
plied with, the members of the Presbytery embracing the
opportunity for expressing the high respect and esteem
in which they held their venerable brother. His congre-
gation and private friends, anxious to show their favour
in a more tangible form, presented him with an illuminated
address and purse of sovereigns. He retired to Cults
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House, where he lives with two of his sons, who are
physicians, enjoying a deservedly large practice there.

James Ironside Still, who had been educated at
the University of Aberdeen, and afterwards at the Free
Church College there, succeeded as assistant and successor.
He is an active and energetic clergyman, and a member
of the School Board of the parish. He had the manse
repaired, and the church repainted at an expense of some
4500, which he succeeded in raising by means of two
bazaars held in the grounds of Banchory House in 1887-
88. . The congregation now numbers upwards of two
hundred and thirty communicants, and is steadily
increasing.
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HILLDOWNTREE.

The few houses bearing this title stand a few hundred
yards west of the Bridge of Dee. Tradition gives us to
understand that the name was assumed *from a huge
tree, which long ago had been floated down from the hills
and landed here, where it took root and grew to an
enormous size. It was blown down by the storm of 3rd
October, 1860, but its root is still visible.”* At one
time public executions are believed to have taken place
here, and for many centuries there was an hostelry
at which travellers could regale themselves when they
were on the road. In the beginning of the present
century, the lessee of the inn was a man named Kirton,
who was a sort of character in his way, and the hero of
the following curious episode—

James Selbie, a blacksmith in Aberdeen, had long
courted Betty Tamson, the only daughter of a worthy
neighbouring couple. Unfortunately his advances were
not looked upon with favour by the parents of Betty, who
expected a better match for their daughter. Jamie, how-
ever, having received the full consent of his sweetheart,
had the necessary proclamations made, with a view to the
celebration of the happy event. At this juncture, Betty’s
parents peremptorily refused to allow the marriage to

* Jervise’s Epitaphs, Vol. ii., p. 284.
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proceed, and, acting on their resolution, “put her under
lock and key in a back closet.” Jamie, smarting under
the indignity, communicated his case to a few of the
weavers at the Rigg and Windmillbrae factory, and,
after being duly fortified, a large relief party sallied down
to the residence of Betty, to rescue her from such parental
tyranny. With the assistance of a ladder the window was
reached, and the fair enchantress was tenderly and lovingly
lifted out, and laid in the arms of her faithful Jamie.
Acting under the advice of friends the party at once set
off by way of Hardgate for Banchory-Devenick, assured
that Dr. Morison would tie the knot on production of
the necessary papers. Off they went, a motley crew of
weavers in their working garb, and others of a nonde-
script order, bent on a bit of fun. Refreshments were
obtained at Watson’s in the Hardgate, after which they
pushed on to Kirton’s celebrated house. Here a fresh
fortification of courage was obtained, and a section of the
more respectable members of the corfege accompanied the
pair to the Doctor’s. He refused, however, to have any-
thing to do with them ; so, considerably crestfallen, they
returned to Kirton’s. That worthy, however, was equal
to the occasion, for over a “ tappit hen” he told them that,
by the law of Scotland, the due acknowledgment before
witnesses of their taking one another for husband and wife
was quite sufficient. The form was gone through—as
was also a considerable amount of Kirton's best—and
they returned to town—*a’ fu’an’ a’ happy.” A meeting
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with the parents took place, and, after considerable ado,
they agreed to be pleased if the pair would get Mr.
Gellatly in the Shiprow to marry them like decent folk,
which he did, and so ended “the Banchory weddin.”
The wedding has been commemorated in a ballad by

George Smith.*

An excellent idea of the city and its suburbs is ob-
tained in walking between Murcar and Hilldowntree,
which doubtless gave rise to the composition of the
following doggerel lines, which appeared in the Aberdeen
Almanac for 1722:—

“Twixt Murcur and the Hilldown Tree
These following things a man may see :
Two Noble Rivers there doth run,
Adorn’d with Splendid Briggs of Stone;
One of one Arch without compare,

The other of Seven, and very Fair,

And yearly throughout every Arch
Cathedral Fish in Legions march

Long time these have the Fronteers been
Of the Antient towns of ABERDEEN
For if these Briggs were quite away
They would be a Peninsula ;

Bounded on East with Neptune's Fleet,
With Braid-hill, Block-house, Canno-Sweet
With famous Town of antient Fzitze
Where dwelleth Women wise and wittie

* Walker's Bards of Bon-Accord, page 406-407.
K



HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK.

On West with a large fertile Field

Which Parsneps, Turneps, Carrets yeeld
With finest Cabbage, Sybows, Leeks,
(Which women sell who wear the Breeks)
Potato’s, Beans, & caetera,

Abound in this Peninsula,

Wake, Wind and Water Mills these Towns
Do separate from Rustick Clowns:

In midst of these there may be seen

The beauteous Towns of ABERDEEN
Whose UNIVERSITIES discover

Their learning all the World over,

Their Musick, stately Buildings, Bells,
Their spacious Streets and Suggared Wells
Which any may observe who will,

"Twixt Zéllidron and Fervihill :

Inverurie Battle and Harlaw,

Did their Ancestors Valour shaw,

All which demonstrate in a Word,

The comeliness of BON-ACCORD.”



HISTORY OF BANCHORY-DEVENICK. 75

PARISH SCHOOL.

The date when a school was first opened at Banchory-
Devenick for the education of the young must be mere
matter of conjecture; but the old parish records show
that in the year 1711 the building used for that pur-
pose, and believed to be on same site as the present
school, was in a very dilapidated condition. The
following suggestive entry occurs of date rst July, 1711,
“The said day it being represented to the Session that
whereas in moist and foggy weather the roof of the school-
house pours down so many soot drops that scarcely it is
habitable : to remove this inconveniencie the Session did
unanimously ordain that the said school house should be
lafted with dails upon the publick chuarges.” On 24th
June, 1714, “the sum of 10 lib. was paid for casting goo
divots, and 13 lib. scots for meal and meat to the man
who laid on the divots on the roof.” In 1732 the school
had fallen into such a ruinous state that the erection of a
new building was contracted for at a cost of £36 13s.
scots.

The kirk-session, having had the strongest voice in
the appointment of schoolmaster, invariably gave with it
the session clerkship and sometimes the precentorship.
The emoluments of the appointments are thus re-
corded in 1707. ““ There is due from the possession
of every pleugh in the Parish twenty shillings scots,
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which in all amounts to above fourty eight payed at
Candlemass. There is payable out of the Kirk Box for
officiating as Session-Clerk twenty punds scots, and four
punds four shillings scots for writing all testimonials
" gratis. Every husbandman pays for clerking his childs
Baptisme ten pence and every subtennant payes halfe a
merke, and for clerking of every marriage ten pence.
Every Scholar learning to read and write payes to the
Schoolmaster a merk (1s. 14d.) quarterly and every.
Latin Scholar twenty pence quarterly.” In addition,
it had been customary for the session to allow the school-
master 41 Scots ‘“for the casting and winning peats for
the children’s use who are at School in the winter time.”
Later on ‘“a crown” was repeatedly granted “to the
Clerk for a hat as usuall.” It does not appear that the
income of the schoolmaster had been in any way improved
till the passing of an Act of Parliament in 1803 “for the
bettering of Parochial Schoolmasters.” Under this Act
the minister and heritors of the parish met at the school-
house on 10th September of that ycar, when the following
resolutions were passed :—‘“ That the Schoolmaster’s
salary for the first period fixed by the Act shall be three
hundred and fifty merks Scotch, to be proportioned
amongst the several Heritors agreeably to the said Act.
Also that a garden, containing a quarter of a Scotch acre,
shall be set aside and enclosed from the adjoining field
belonging to Mr. Thomson of Banchory. The meet-
ing was unanimously of opinion that the school fees,
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which had not been raised for at least half a century,
should be augmented in the following proportions,
all payable on entering to the School, and to commence
on the expiry of the present vacations, vizt: For a
quarter of a year at reading English, One Skilling and
Stxpence. For Reading and Writing, Zwo Skillings and
Siuxpence. For Arithmetic, Three Shillings, and for
Latin, Fzve Shillings.” This scale of fees was repeatedly
amended in subsequent years, with a view to still “further
encouarge the Teacher in the discharge of his duties.”

As early as 1738 the catechising system began,
“intimation being given from the pulpit that a Committee
of Presbytery would visit the school, when all concerned
were warned to attend.” These visitations were continued
annually down to a comparatively recent date. In October,
1799, in consequence of the distracted state of the country,
all schoolmasters were ordered by the sheriffs of counties
to take a formal oath of allegiance to his Majesty, George
III. In 1807 the number of scholars in attendance was
thirty. Of these, sixteen studied English only, twelve
writing, twelve arithmetic, and two book-keeping. The
gross income of the teacher, including emoluments of
session-clerkship, &c., amounted to £44 6s. 10%d.*

The parish has been unusually fortunate for the last
two centuries in the selection of teachers. For this too
much credit cannot be assigned to the parish ministers,

* Table No. I'V. Agricultural Survey.
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especially to Dr. Morison and his scholarly successor,
Dr. Paul, whose respective efforts and influence secured
the appointment of the best possible men. Indeed, it is
questionable if any rural parish in the north, with a like
limited population, could produce a list of such dis-
tinguished teachers.

TEACHERS.

1569. William Mar held the offices of schoolmaster,
reader, and session-clerk. As “reidar” he had a salary of
“xx lib” per annum.

1693. Robert Jamieson was elected to the same
offices, and in 1703 ‘“he being before in holy orders
commenced Preacher and Assistant to the Minister of

Banchory Mr. James Gordon.” Having, however, secured
a charge of his own at Inverness, he removed there in
the summer of 1714.

1714. David Martin officiated for a year or two as
schoolmaster under Mr. Jamieson, at whose removal he
was appointed to the three offices.

1716. Charles Cay succeeded him, but he does not
seem to have held the appointments beyond about twelve
months. He appears to have likewise acted as precentor
and session-clerk, and to have taken a great interest in
the ministerial affairs of the parish. Having secured
another appointment he left at Whitsunday, 1717.
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1717. James Clark, who had been temporarily offici-
ating as precentor, was formally elected to the vacancy in
1717. He left the district in the summer of 1726.

1726. James Hogg, who had previously been school-
master at Drumoak, succeeded Clark in 1726. He held
the post for forty-five years, when he retired through old
age. According to the minute of session, ‘“he had filled
the office with great abilities, diligence and success.” He
had a son, George, who was a very successful merchant
in Aberdeen, and who latterly became proprietor of the
estate of Shannaburn,  Like his father, the son took the
greatest possible interest in Banchory-Devenick, building
a female school entirely at his own expense, and endowing
it with a legacy of £100. This endowment was supple-
mented by Dr. Morison, who added another £100 to the
fund. This female school, which stood about three
hundred yards south of the parish school, is now closed,
the pupils having been transferred to the parish school ;
but the annual interest on the fund is regularly paid by
the kirk-session, who are the trustees, to the School
Board, thus enabling the latter body to reduce the school
rate exigible from the ratepayers. George Hogg died in

1826, in the 78th year of his age.
1771.  George Skene Keith, the industrious reviewer

of Aberdeenshire agriculture, “who produced the best
attestations of his conduct from the Minister and Session
of Peterculter, whence he came,” was appointed both
schoolmaster and session-clerk in February, 1771. He
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was the lineal descendant of Alexander Keith, third son
of the second Earl Marischal, and had been laureated at
King’s College the previous year. Whilst discharging
the functions of teacher at Banchory-Devenick, he con-
trived to attend the divinity course at Aberdeen, securing
license from the Presbytery there in 1774. Two years
later he received a presentation to the charge of Keith-
hall and Kinkell from the commissioners of George,
Earl Marischal ; but his lordship having the follow-
ing day given a presentation to the same charge to
Thomas Tait, one of the ministers of Old Machar, a
serious question arose as to which should be preferred.
The Court of Session, and the House of Lords, both de-
cided in favour of Keith, who was accordingly ordained on
14th May, 1778. In 1822 he received a presentation to
the parish of Tulliallan in Perthshire, and, accepting it,
his younger son, John, who was a graduate of Aberdeen
University, and licensed as a preacher of the gospel,
succeeded him as minister of Keith-hall. The elder son
was Dr. Keith of St. Cyrus, author of the well-known
book on prophecy. A son of the latter is the celebrated
surgeon and ovariotomist, Dr. Keith, who recently
removed from Edinburgh to London, and who claims to
be the oldest surviving representative of the Earls
Marischal in the male line. Skene Keith, who had
received the degree of D.D. from his A/lma Mater, died
at Tulliallan House on #th March, 1823, in the 71st
year of his age, and his remains were interred in the
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churchyard of Keith-hall, where a handsome monument,
bearing the following inscription, was afterwards erected

to his memory :(—

“ Near this wall are interred the mortal remains of The Rev.
Dr. George Skene Keith, Minister of the Parish of Keith-hall for
forty-four years, and of Tulliallan, in Perthshire, for eight months.
Born at Auquhorsk on the 6th November, 1752, he died at
Tulliallan House on the 7th March, 1823. Distinguished and
beloved as the clergyman of a parish, and remarkable in a
wider sphere for his learning and science, of great mental and
bodily activity, he preserved in age the same vivacity and cheer-
fulness, the same love of knowledge, warmth of feeling, and un-
tiring Christian benevolence which characterised his youth and
manhood. Some gentlemen of this county who had intended
to present him with a memorial of their high respect for his
character, but were prevented by his death, have erected this
monument to his memory.”

He will be remembered best by his book on the Agrzcul-
ture of Aberdeenshire, published in 1811. It is a won-
derful collection of facts on a subject which was then in
its infancy, and is thoroughly indispensable to a historian
of Scotch agriculture. His other works are Zracts on
Weghts, Measuves, and Corns; The Excellence of the
British Constitution, and A Short Stketch of the Life of
Principal Campbell.

1778. Robert Cormack was appointed successor in
July, 1778, but only on the condition that ““ he should grant
his obligation not to commence as a Student of Divinity,
and likewise that he should find one sufficiently qualified

L
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to precent in the Church and teach Church Music.” He
was a painstaking and highly successful teacher, and was
much esteemed in the parish. He continued to hold the
double office down to the date of his death, which occurred
on 13th January, 1813.

1813. Robert Adams, designed as “ Student in Philo-
sophy in King's College, Aberdeen, and having ample cer-
tificates of his literature and abilities to fill the office,” was
appointed successor in the following March. This being
the first appointment under the Act of Parliament of 1803,
it devolved upon the Presbytery, after Mr. Adams had
been formally appointed by the heritors, “ to make trial
of his proficiency in Latin, English, Arithmetic, and
Writing, and if found qualified to teach these branches of
education, that they furnish him with an Extract from
their Minutes in due form, so that his right to the endow-
ments of his Office may be completed.” He was a most
careful teacher and excellent session-clerk—the minutes and
accounts in his handwriting giving evidence of his ability
as a caligraphist. He qualified for the Dick Bequest;
and his literary attainments generally were of a high
order. In January, 1836, he contracted a malignant
fever and died after four days’ illness. Under his
deed of settlement he bequeathed a sum of money for
behoof of the poor of the parish.

1836. Patrick McGregor Grant, M.A., ““ Preacher of
the Gospel,” was appointed successor on 10th March, 1836.
He was an active and energetic teacher and won himself
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many friends. Amongst these was John Irvine Boswell
of Kingcausie and Balmuto, who, as patron of the living
of Auchterderran, in Fifeshire, presented it to him on a
vacancy occurring in 1844. Grant was accordingly or-
dained and inducted there in the autumn of the same year.
He took an active interest in the spiritual welfare of
Lochgelly, a mining village three miles distant from the
manse, and for many years he preached there twice every
Sunday, until his exertions, backed by the assistance of
outside friends, got the Chapel of Ease erected into a
Quoad Sacra parish with a duly ordained minister. He
never married, but lived a quiet retiring life on his
stipend, which amounted to the handsome sum of £463
per annum. Unfortunately, about ten years ago, symp-
toms of mental derangement began to manifest themselves,
and he became quite incapacitated from discharging his
duty. A curator was thereupon appointed for him, and
he was removed to a private lunatic asylum in Edinburgh,
where he died on 28th March, 1889.”

1844. John Webster, M.A., who was educated in the
parish school of Forglen and studied afterwards at the
University of Aberdeen, where he also passed the divinity
course, subsequently receiving license from the Presbytery
of Aberdeen as ‘“a preacher of the Gospel,” was appointed
successor to Grant on 24th October, 1844. Entering
upon his duties at Banchory immediately thereafter, he
speedily gave proof of his literary proficiency and rare
power of imparting knowledge to others. His ability in



81 HISTORY OF BANCHORY.-DEVENICK.

these respects led the University of Aberdeen, in 1850,
to appoint him Murray lecturer, and in that capacity,
and whilst still teacher at Banchory-Devenick, he de-
livered the lectures at King’s College during the sessions
1850-51, and 1851-52. In the autumn of 1852 he was
presented to the charge of the parish of Strichen, and
five years later he was translated to Anstruther Easter,
in Fifeshire. In 1864 he removed to the parish of
Cameron, near St. Andrews. At the end of 1876 the
congregation of St. John’s, Edinburgh, recognizing his
power as a preacher and organizer of church-work,
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